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Tuesday, October 3, 2017
--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Good morning.

My name is Allison Duff, and I will be presiding today.  With me on the Panel are Board members Lynne Anderson and Michael Janigan.

Today we are sitting to hear an application from InnPower Corporation seeking approval to change its rates that it charges for electricity distribution effective July 1, 2017.  It's under Board docket number EB-2016-0105.

Subsequent to Procedural Order Number 4 the OEB decided to proceed with all other issues of the hearing today orally.  They are except issue 5.2, which relates to the pole attachment and microFIT charges proposed.  The OEB intends to issue procedural steps after this oral hearing regarding that.

OEB Staff has prepared a hearing plan.  I trust everybody's received a copy.  Thank you very much for providing your time estimates regarding cross-examination.  It's a moving document, a living document, and as we proceed we may need to shift things around.

The panel, if you ever need a break, don't be hesitant to tell me.  That's fine.

I understand there's a meeting tomorrow afternoon from 2:00 to 4:00.  Let's just hold off and see how things play out today and how we are for time regarding breaking for that meeting.  I think it's yet to be determined.

So I guess before we proceed any further let's have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel.  My name is John Vellone, and I am counsel for the applicant. With me today on my left is my associate, Ada Keon.  Ada is going to attempt to navigate the evidentiary record on the computer screens for us today.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ada.

MR. VELLONE:  And to my right is Ms. Barb Cesarin.

MS. DUFF:  And her role is?

MR. VELLONE:  Human resources director at InnPower Corporation.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I'm counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Mr. Shepherd.

MS. KHOO:  Good morning.  My name is Cynthia Khoo, counsel for VECC.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Ms. Khoo.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I guess I'm last.  Good morning, Panel.  My name is Ljuba Djurdjevic.  I'm counsel for OEB Staff, and with me are Lawren Murray, also counsel for OEB Staff, and from OEB Staff, Fiona O'Connell.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning, Ms. Djurdjevic, Mr. Murray, Ms. O'Connell.
Preliminary Matters:


Are there any preliminary matters to deal with today?  Mr. Vellone?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  There's just one, Madam Chair.  There is an update to Appendix 2KA dealing with OPEBs, some employment post -- other post-employment benefit costs that was provided today by applicants --


MR. VELLONE:  We can deal with that during our examination in-chief if that's easier.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Certainly.  That's fine.  Then we'll mark an exhibit then.  Thanks, Mr. Vellone.

MS. DUFF:  So Mr. Vellone, do you want to introduce your witnesses?

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly.  InnPower is putting forward two panels of witnesses.  The first panel will speak to all of the issues in dispute with the exclusion of the capital expenditures distribution system plan and capital contributions, so all other issues is this first panel.

Could you each please state and spell your name for the benefit of the record?

MR. BROWN:  Shannon Brown.  S-h-a-n-n-o-n B-r-o-w-n.

MR. MALCOLM:  Walter Malcolm, W-a-l-t-e-r M-a-l-c-o-l-m.

MS. COWLES:  Jennifer Cowles, J-e-n-n-i-f-e-r C-o-w-l-e-s.

MR. BACON:  Bruce Bacon, B-r-u-c-e B-a-c-o-n.

MS. PINKE:  Brenda Pinke, B-r-e-n-d-a P-i-n-k-e.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Could we ask that the witnesses be affirmed?
INNPOWER CORPORATION - PANEL 1

Shannon Brown,
Walter Malcolm,
Jennifer Cowles,
Bruce Bacon,
Brenda Pinke; Affirmed
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  CVs were distributed in advance of the technical conference and were previously marked as Exhibit KT1.1.  Perhaps what we can do is just have the witnesses briefly introduce themselves and identify what portion of the evidence they are able to speak to.

Mr. Malcolm, would you like to get us started?

MR. MALCOLM:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.

My name is Walter Malcolm.  I am president and CEO of InnPower Corporation.  I joined InnPower in August of 2016.  As president and CEO of InnPower, I oversaw the rate application and I oversee the -- and I am responsible for the entire cost-of-service application.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

Ms. Cowles, would you like to go next?

MS. COWLES:  My name is Jennifer Cowles, and I am the interim CFO/treasurer for InnPower Corporation.  I have been in this role since January of this year, 2017.  In this role I oversaw and am ultimately responsible for the financial aspects of the forward test year cost-of-service application.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Ms. Pinke?

MS. PINKE:  Good morning, my name is Brenda Pinke, and I am the regulatory conservation manager for InnPower, and I have been in this role since 2009.  I have primary responsibility for putting the applications together under the direction of the CFO and the president.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Mr. Brown.

MR. BROWN:  My name is Shannon Brown.  I am vice-president of corporate services for InnPower Corporation and have held this position since January of 2015.  I was responsible for customer engagement, productivity, quantification aspects of the application, as well as evidence supporting certain specific charges.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Mr. Bacon.

MR. BACON:  Good morning.  My name is Bruce Bacon.  I am the senior utility rate consultant with BLG.  I was retained by InnPower to prepare the load forecasts for their original custom IR application.  I assisted with preparing responses to interrogatories related to the load forecast, and updated the load forecast based on information from the interrogatories.  The load forecast was updated once again to reflect items highlighted in the technical conference.

As a result of time constraints I took on the responsibility to update all the models to reflect the outcome of the technical conference and attempted to ensure consistency in the version filed with the undertakings.  I also provided some assistance with cost allocation rate design.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Mr. Malcolm, Ms. Cowles, Ms. Pinke, and Mr. Brown, was the application, including all amendments and interrogatory responses and updates to the evidence, prepared by you or under your supervision?

ALL:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you adopt the evidence as your own in this proceeding?

ALL:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Are there any corrections you would like to make to the evidence?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, in the Chapter 2 appendices Appendix 2KA it captures the annual OPEB accruals and compares that with actuals.  The table filed has erroneous numbers in it, and we have repopulated the table with what we believe was intended and requested with that table.  We have printouts and the corrected table with us to distribute.

MR. VELLONE:  So we provided copies to OEB Staff.  Why don't we get that marked as an exhibit.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  That will be K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CORRECTED TABLE FOR CHAPTER 2 APPENDIX 2KA.

MR. VELLONE:  Does the Panel have copies of that K1.1?

MS. DUFF:  No, I don't.

MR. VELLONE:  We gave you a stack.  We will track these down.

MS. DUFF:  Is this something you are going to cover in your argument in-chief?

MR. VELLONE:  We can deal with it later.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Great.  Let's --


MR. VELLONE:  The witnesses have prepared a brief opening statement, so I will turn it over to Mr. Malcolm.
Opening Statement by Mr. Malcolm:


MR. MALCOLM:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.

Madam Chair, Board Panel.  InnPower Corporation has historically been a challenged utility.  I recognize that we face issues today.  Not only are our customers facing rate pressures, but us as a utility are facing growth pressures.

My management team and I are committed to ensuring the future productivity and efficiency of this utility as we move forward.  As I stated in the technical hearing, I started in this position August 2016.  I succeeded a predecessor who had 14 years in a similar role.  My management team also is newly appointed in their roles recently.

I stated this during the technical conference not to hide from the past performance of this utility; as we note, the past is the past.  As a management team, we don't dwell on the past, but we do learn from that past.  And our commitment to our customers is to ensure that the future of this utility will be better than it was.

At the Ontario Energy Board committee meetings, the message from our customers, 300 of them, was very loud and clear.  They wanted to see changes, they wanted to see rate reductions, they wanted us to be a more efficient utility.  And that message was heard upon our management team and our staff at InnPower.

Taking into the consideration the feedback that we received from our customers during community day, we made the following revisions to our application.  We halted the 2017 full-time equivalent hirings.  We also reduced the OM&A forecast by 3 percent to $5,594,356.  We also removed the Z factor related to our storm damage of $296,000, and we also reduced the LRAM factor rate rider.  We also corrected an error in our contribution capital of $2.284 million.


InnPower built a new administration building, and with that administration building, there was 5,466 square feet of vacant office space attached to our building.  In 2016, we were looking at leasing this vacant space.  There was a delay in leasing the space and the tenant has finally signed on board as of September 1st, 2017.  From November 2016, we expected our revenues from this leased space to be higher than what it is today.  What we are seeing because of the late signing of the lease in September of 2017, our revenues from that building will be $33,000.

To ensure that the ratepayers aren't held for cost account for that extra space that we have in our building, what we propose to do is remove that portion of the building from our rate base and that's an equivalent to $2 million off the rate base.  The new value of the building will now be $10.9 million, as opposed to the actual $13.9 million.  In essence, what we are doing is holding the ratepayer harmless for the extra space of our administration building.

With all the reductions that we have undertaken, InnPower is now asking for a residential rate increase of $8.14.  This $8.14 is reflective of our revenue requirements as of today.  I do recognize that this $8.14 on the residential rate is still a fair increase, so I ask myself what are the drivers that are contributing to the $8.14.  55 percent is attributed to our depreciation and cost of capital.  The growth in rate base from 2013 was 33 million to 53 million in 2017.  This growth is relates to the growth of our customer base within our service territory.

One factor of the capital is the $10.1 million for our new administration building.  This administration building was the fourth largest capital project that InnPower undertook since its existence in 1991.  The old building did not serve the purposes of our utility; it was old and was in bad state of repair.

The old building, the rate base associated with that old building was $440,510, which reflects in the rates that our customers have seen.

In contrast, the new building, the rate base is $9,964,561.  There is a notional amount in the rates through the ICM rate rider.

The second contribution is $10.7 million.  We have seen a higher than normal investment in system access and system renewal due to the growth of our service territory.  In regards to system access, we have seen new development in the Friday Harbour area, South Barrie, Lafroy and Belle Ewart areas of our service territory.  In order to service these lands, we needed to build a new station, upgrade the capacity of an existing station, as well as revitalize and rebuild overhead pole lines and infrastructure to service those lands.

In the system renewal over the past four years from 2013, there has been an increase in pole replacements in our service territory.  Also during that time period, we had a catastrophic transformer failure that also contributed to the high cost of our system renewal.

In a smaller way, our automation SCADA systems as well as our change of our radio communication network also was part of this increase.

In regards to the capital, we will be explaining and able to speak to that through panel number 2.

The second driver of our rate increase for the $8.14 is the account for 30 percent in growth in the OM&A.  Incremental building expenses for our new building include insurance, hydro, natural gas and water bills, as well as the maintenance of the property and building which include janitorial services, security maintenance, and grounds maintenance.

The Ontario Onecall legislation came into effect during this time period, which increased our call volumes for people looking for more locates.  As the increase of volume occurred, we had to contract out labour just to meet the requirements of the new regulation.

With the growth of our distribution system, our operation and maintenance expense has also increased due to the fact that our assets have increased and our distribution grid has expanded.  With the growth of our customer base and new subdivisions, metering expense has also risen.

Finally, we did have additional resources during the past four years.  We had one financial analyst hired in December 2015.  We had a half a regulatory analyst hired in September of 2013.  We had a half financial admin in December of 2015, as well as a full-time customer accounts representative hired in January 2013 to address our customer service needs and growth in our programs.

Together these drivers account for 85 percent of rate increase.  The remainder is due to an increase in PILS of 9 percent and a property tax increase of 5 percent due to the new building.

Upon completion of this oral hearing, I will be focussing our organization on developing a new business planning exercise.  The business planning will ensure that we are responsible and responsive to our stakeholders and ensure that we are stable and a growth-oriented business.  There will be major cooperation between our board of directors and staff, with valuable input from our stakeholders.  We plan on engaging with our stakeholders through an open communication network to ensure that we are addressing their areas of concern, areas of interest, and areas of requirements for InnPower Corporation moving forward.

We will be looking at an environmental scan to address our strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats.  This environmental scan will be through our stakeholders externally from the organization, as well as internally with our staff.  We need to ensure that all parties are involved in our business planning and have an input in the business plan moving forward.

From this environmental scan, we will identify areas of concerns and issues and develop strategic plans in order to materialize the concerns into a response to our stakeholders to ensure that our business is running the way that they expect it to be.

We will also identify and revise our mission, vision, and values for InnPower corporation, and we will take these strategies and develop operational plans to ensure that on a day-to-day, week-to-week, month-to-month, year-to-year basis, we are fully engaged in meeting the needs of the requirements of our stakeholders and the organization.

In this context we will be managing our capital and OM&A through a growth pace for growth philosophy.  That is a philosophy that is throughout our organization, is to ensure that any growth that happens in our organization, it gets paid through the growth.

On the capital side, InnPower will be utilizing the economic evaluation model and a Distribution System Code to ensure that the infrastructure costs are noted and that any contributions that are required by developers are taken into consideration and being paid for by the developers.

On the OM&A side, we will be pre-emptive hiring full-time equivalent staff to ensure that we don't hire before the demand is there.  When the demand comes online, we will take our existing staff and through efficiencies will handle that initial growth.  As the growth expands, then we will look at adding additional full-time equivalents.

That is our plan for our full-time equivalents.  We cannot cut any further from our current staff complement, and Ms. Cowles will explain why.
Presentation by Ms. Cowles:


MS. COWLES:  So I would like to qualify Mr. Malcolm's comments regarding growth pay for growth.  While we are committed to reducing our OM&A spend and using existing FTEs, there is a limit to how far we can take this, and I believe InnPower is at that limit.  Existing employees are being asked to do more, resulting in overwork, burnout, and more stress leave.  Mr. Davison is here during the oral hearing because we are having exactly that issue in our engineering department, and we have experienced two extended vacancies that remain unfilled.

Between 2016 and 2017 there's been a 59 percent increase in hours of overtime.  Between two -- the same period, 2016 and 2017, there was a 109 percent increase in average days of absence by union staff and a 63 percent increase for non-union staff.  There's currently one staff member on stress leave, and we have had six recent stress-leave occurrences.

In 2013 we experienced a 5 percent turnover, which was completely related to retirements.  In 2017 so far we have experienced 19 percent turnover with only 2 percent of that related to retirements.

Vacancies contribute to higher costs as other employees are forced to work overtime at higher rates.  We end up having to use more subcontract work.  Overwork lowers productivity, and we experience higher turnover and new staff training costs.

Ensuring we maintain a proper level of staff complement reduce these costs and contribute to better work/life balance, which is essential for a healthy, productive workplace.

In this context and as we are anticipating more growth we have to be mindful of the capacity and limits of our current employees.  We cannot cut further in this circumstance, and all vacancies need to be filled.
Presentation by Mr. Brown:


MR. BROWN:  Good morning.  I would like to conclude and draw the Panel's attention to some of the performance improvements InnPower has undertaken to try and reduce costs and increase efficiencies.

I am going to focus on a few examples.  These examples already are detailed in the evidence and there is no new information at this time.

A 20-minute paid lunch for outside staff has been implemented.  This avoids the necessity to break down at job sites and is estimated that an annual savings of $70,000 could be attained.

Customer information system automation software has been implemented, and currently we are realizing between 10- and $15,000 annually.  In addition to these savings, cost avoidance is inherent with reduced training and the potential for human error.

Mobile workforce management has been implemented for years, allowing staff less travel time for service orders and better efficiencies when completing service work daily.

IT strategies have been developed with the municipality, offering both companies a backup disaster recovery site, with an estimated savings of $12,000 annually should that have been hosted with a third-party facility.

Smart meter audits, InnPower realized savings of over 360,000 by cost-sharing with consortium of utilities, and in addition to those savings, cost-sharing with a smart meter testing facility as well, realizing savings every year with the consortium and the sharing between utilities.

Investments in SCADA, continued investments in SCADA, outage management systems, and with the introduction of smart meter data assists InnPower in reduction of outage times for customers and increasing reliability.  In addition, being able to perform remote switching reduces those costs that normally would traditionally have been done with a truck roll and more costly.

Budgeting software has been implemented to streamline the process, and annual savings are estimated at approximately $15,000.  In addition, additional financial workflow software is being reviewed and -- is currently under review, and estimated savings are $30,000 annually in its infancy stages.

As you can see from these savings and efficiencies, they come from all departments of InnPower, and this actually reflects a collective approach taken to cost reduction and efficiency.

InnPower continues to evaluate other opportunities internally and externally for cost savings and productivity.  We want to ensure that we are cost-effective today and more productive, and especially as we grow into the future.  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Madam chair.  The witnesses are available for cross-examination.
Procedural Matters:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, can I raise a procedural issue, please?

MS. DUFF:  Please.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The information we heard on stress leaves and turnover and all that sort of stuff, all that data, I don't recall having ever seen that in the application.  That appears to be new this morning.  If there are references in the evidence to that, those figures and everything, that would be great.  I would like to hear them, but I don't think I have heard them.

Now, I am not suggesting you throw it out --


MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- but I think you should be conscious of the fact that we have not heard that before.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  To the extent it would be helpful we could ask the witnesses to undertake to provide citations to the evidence where those numbers were available in the evidence.  I am not sure we can do it on the fly.

MS. DUFF:  No, I don't think that's necessary right now.  I don't think that's what Mr. Shepherd is asking for.  I think he is just making the point.  I have to admit I was going -- I don't remember reading that myself, but fair enough, it's now been stated, but to the extent that the -- someone's got their phone -- to the extent that it needs to be addressed later so people have an opportunity to react and then ask questions about it at a later time, then we will have to afford them that opportunity --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  -- just a 24-hour period notice, I think, is --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  -- should be respected.

Ms. Khoo, are you prepared to proceed?

MS. KHOO:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  Great.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Khoo:

MS. KHOO:  Good morning.  So I am going to start with just one question on rate design, and then I have a few questions on OM&A, and then at the end just a little bit on costs of capital.

So do all the witnesses, I believe, have the compendium?  Does the Panel have the compendium?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, we do.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We have a compendium here from SEC.  We do not have one from VECC.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Vellone, could you just introduce the other people on the front here?  I know you made reference to Mr. Davison.  I don't recognize the other gentleman.  I'd appreciate knowing.

MR. VELLONE:  Absolutely, Madam Chair.  Mr. Michael Davison and Mr. Daryn Thompson will be part of panel 2 on the capital expenditures.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Thompson is from METSCO; Mr. Davison is an engineer at InnPower.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, Panel.  I have three copies of VECC's compendium, so we need one, which means I can pass up two, and I am sure it will be on the screen as well, so hopefully we can make do with that.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And we will make this Exhibit K1.2 -- well, okay.  Actually, we have two compendia.  We have one on OM&A rate design, so we will make that K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM ON OM&A RATE DESIGN FOR INNPOWER PANEL 1.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And then we have one on cost of capital, and we will make that K1.3.  Okay?
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM ON COST OF CAPITAL FOR INNPOWER PANEL 1.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.

MS. KHOO:  So with rate design, I am doing that first because it's just one question and it's actually in tab 7 of this compendium, which is on page 52.  And as procedural note, all the page numbers refer to both the red numbers at the bottom of each page and they also, I believe, align with the actual PDF page number as well.

So the question that I had is that in InnPower's amended application, which is on this page, filed on May 8th, the application notes that 2017 would be the second year in InnPower's four-year transition to a 100 percent fixed charge model.

However, InnPower proposed to extend the transition period by one year in order to lower the monthly charge increase to below $4 down to $3.53, in accordance with the Board's filing requirements and rate impact mitigation policy.

Now, if you could turn to the next page, this is an updated version of the revenue requirement work form filed on August 3rd.  And InnPower kept with the same approach here, adding the additional transition year to give a monthly increase that was lower than $4.

Now, if you turn to the next page again, page 54, this, I believe, is the most recent revenue requirement work form filed after the technical conference, and it seems that here InnPower did not add the additional transition year.  So there's three transition years now instead of four, and the final monthly increase is $4.71.  So I was wondering if that was an oversight or if you decided to change your approach, or if you could clarify that.

MR. BACON:  The simple answer is it was an oversight.

MS. KHOO:  And so could you file an updated version?

MR. BACON:  Sure, we can do that.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO FILE AN UPDATED VERSION OF THE DOCUMENTS AT EXHIBIT K1.1 PAGE 52, 53, AND 54


MS. KHOO:  So that's it for rate design.  Now I will turn to OM&A.

So if you could turn to page 6 of the same compendium,  we have here undertaking J2.6, where InnPower explains why capitalized labour costs were rising.  The response states that it's because the forecasted amount has not been adjusted to be levelled to reflect the internal staff hours to the external subcontract labour hours, and I wasn't really sure what that meant.  So I was wondering if someone could explain that further.

MS. COWLES:  So in that table, the first years up until 2017 were actuals.  2017 was based on a budgeted number that is done as part of our budgeting process.  And what happens when actuals come through is that the balance between the internal and external labour changes and often lowers based on the labour allocation in our capital, whether we are using more subcontract work.  That number was not levelled at that time to balance with our internal labour, what our actual internal labour was and should be lower.

This question is probably better answered -- I hope that provides your answer.  But if you had more detail, it might be better answered by our engineering and operations department, which is actually on panel 2.

MS. KHOO:  One follow-up; I can still ask panel 2.  Is it because you were assuming a certain ratio of internal to external and then once actuals come in, that ratio changes?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, thank you.  Now turning to page 10, this is undertaking JT1.17 with the revised 2K table showing total 2017 compensation costs of just over $4 million.  It's about a $200,000 decrease from earlier filings of appendix 2K, and I was wondering if you could explain what accounted for that $200,000 difference?

MR. VELLONE:  Could you take me to the difference, just so I could follow the question?

MS. KHOO:  Yes, apologies.  The undertaking itself does start on page 10, but the appendix 2K is actually on page 11.  This is the most recent version of appendix 2K, and then -- it's not in the compendium, but I have it noted here that, for example, in comparing to an earlier version of appendix 2K that was filed with 4-VECC-30, and then there was -- in the original and amended filings there was -- so in 4-VECC-30 is about 4.2 million and then in the original and amended filings, it was about 4.3 million for a total 2017 compensation costs.  And for reference, 4-VECC-30 is on page 8 of the compendium.

So actually all three appendices are there, all three versions of 2K, and I am just looking at the final number in the bottom right-hand corner.

MS. PINKE:  I will answer that question for you.  On appendix 2K, the final version of it we have of it there should be the -- you want to know the reduction amount, why it occurred?  There were some inconsistencies in the table and we had some in services staff that were accounted on the table, they were not taken out, and it was corrected as we worked through the IR process.  And it was a timing thing, you know, to when the final table went in and to what was pasted in an earlier version.  But the reduction is due to in services staff that were accounted in the original table.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, thank you.  And now on page 8 again, I am referring now to part A, the table at the top, which was InnPower's response to a question on capitalized direct labour.  And I wanted to check if this number, the forecasted number for 2017, the $818,000, is that included in the final compensation costs for appendix 2K, or would you have to add the two numbers to get the total labour costs for 2017?

MS. COWLES:  That amount should already be in the total labour cost.  It's a stand-alone table; it's not something you add to the other.

MS. KHOO:  And is that noted in appendix 2K, or it's embedded within the line items?

MS. COWLES:  It would be embedded within the line items.

MS. KHOO:  And for the next question, could you please turn to page 14 of the compendium?

Okay.  And so is this an outdated version now, given the changes that you just mentioned about remaining with your current number of FTEs?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MS. KHOO:  And would it be useful to ask for an updated version, or would it basically be everything would be zero now?

MR. MALCOLM:  Everything would be zero now.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And if you could please move back one page to page 13.  So one question I had here was that in the original 2012 human resource plan it notes that there's one hire for 2015, and then in the end, Appendix 2K showed that InnPower went from 38 actual FTEs in 2014 to 44 in 2015.

So was there an explanation for that sudden jump in 2015, that -- or...

MR. MALCOLM:  From table 4-12, which will be line 8 on your compendium, the financial analyst was in 2015.  The regulatory support was -- did occur in 2013.  The administrative support -- that's for the finance -- happened in 2015 as well.  And the customer-service representative was in 2013.  There is no dispatcher, and there is no business analyst or SCADA meter tech hired in 2016.

MS. KHOO:  I am not sure if that answered my question.  So if you go to page 21, in Appendix 2K, if you look at the number of employees for 2014 actuals, it says 38 total.  And then 2015 actuals is 44.

So is it right to conclude from that that six people were hired over the course of 2015?

MS. COWLES:  We actually sat down recently and looked at the changes in the positions from 2013 to 2017.  HR is constantly evolving.  It's not a straight, these three were added, and sometimes we are taking away positions and adding them.  The 2013 positions, this table says 39 FTEs.  Actually, with co-op students, if we consider co-op students and then take the equivalent of FTEs, it was 40 that we had on staff.

In 2017 we have 43.6 FTE positions.  The incremental change from the two was 3.6 FTEs.  But that's made up of additions and some subtractions, some splitting of positions, and I have got that information in a table if it helps.

MS. KHOO:  Is this table on the record?

MS. COWLES:  No, it is not yet.

MS. KHOO:  Could you provide that?

MS. COWLES:  I have copies here, yes.

MS. KHOO:  Should that be --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Do we want to mark this as an exhibit and have Ms. Khoo ask questions on it, or do you want to return to it later since --


MS. KHOO:  I thought it would just be useful to have that information on the record --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Let's make that Exhibit K1.4.  And, sorry, can we get a description of the document just for the record?

MS. COWLES:  I would say it's the change in positions from 2013 to 2017.  I just want to add it's an updated response to 4-VECC-31B.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  UPDATED RESPONSE TO 4-VECC-31b SHOWING THE CHANGE IN POSITIONS FROM 2013 TO 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I wonder if we have any other ones like this that we are going to receive during the day, and maybe we can just get them all at once.  This was obviously prepared for us in advance.  We've just got it in cross instead of ahead of time, and I wonder --


MS. DUFF:  This is the only update you are anticipating?

MR. VELLONE:  I don't know of any others.

MS. COWLES:  No, we just provided that for ourselves to help explain the change in positions.

MS. DUFF:  What I would like, though, is, Undertaking JT1.17, I'd really like that to be refiled.  That's the most recent thing, and in that format, because it now makes me question whether it's just the FTE positions have changed or the dollars beneath that.

So are you updating technically your last, which was filed -- you know, your undertaking responses which were filed September 20th and have this Appendix 2K -- it's changing those figures as well, right?

MS. COWLES:  No, it did not change the figures.

MR. VELLONE:  Madam Chair, if I may.  My understanding of this table is that the witness prepared this in advance of the oral hearing so that they could wrap their head around what changed in respect of the FTEs between 2013 and 2017.  My understanding of it was it does not amount to a correction to the number of FTEs that have previously been filed, just when they are tracking the difference, the co-op student line items down at the bottom is something that they think about but which is not included in Appendix 2K.

So it's not a correction to the evidence at all, it's more like the witness's working notes.

MS. DUFF:  Well, one says 40 and one says 39 for two-13, and are -- okay.  So aside from the FTE numbers, just talking about the update provided on September the 20th, those dollars are correct then, in that undertaking --


MS. COWLES:  Yes, the dollars are correct.

MS. DUFF:  And this would just update the FTE numbers on that table?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, explaining the FTE numbers, what's included in the table, and making it consistent from '13 to '17 so that you can compare the two and where the changes came.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, I understand.  Did we assign this an exhibit number?  I can't remember.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We did.  It's K1.4.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

And one more question on this, because it's -- this is an update to 4-VECC-31B, but 4-VECC-31B was updated with Undertaking JT1.17, so that's -- again, just confirming that the dollars in JT1.17 have not changed.  That is the final.

MS. PINKE:  The dollars have not changed, but you are correct.  We should make a correction to the FTE from -- to equal the response to VECC 31.

MS. DUFF:  Just my concern was the latest information we have isn't VECC -- isn't an interrogatory response, it's the undertaking.  Like, I am just -- from my perspective, what is the last thing that you filed with respect to employee costs and employee numbers?  Personally, I am always referring back to JT1.17 as the final.  So that's where I was questioning, had those FTE changed, and if it's being supplemented by this, but the problem is the title of this, just was looking for clarification what you have updated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder, Madam Chair, if I could note that it also changes the number of management staff by taking out half of the CEO, and -- which appears to be one of the key changes in it, because I believe that in the previous table the full CEO was in there.  I could be wrong, but...

MR. VELLONE:  I think, given that I am wrapping my head around this at about the same time you are, to ensure the Panel has the benefit of a correct 2K, which is really what you are looking for, I think, can we mark an undertaking to do that?

MS. DUFF:  That would be great, yes.  And actually, I think I have already stated what I will be looking for, and it would help guide, I think, the panel in terms of the latest, and it's all consistent.

MS. PINKE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J1.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE A CORRECTED VERSION OF TABLE 2K


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Please proceed, Ms. Khoo.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you.  I will now move on to incremental drivers of some of the seemingly larger cost increases in OM&A.

So if you could please turn to page 23, what we have here is InnPower's response to 4-Staff-49, explaining some of the increases in OM&A from 2013 approved numbers.  So, for example, as seen in table 4-6 here, underground distribution operations went from the Board-approved 2013 level of about just over $71,000 to approximately $136,000 for 2017.

Similarly, also in this table, customer work orders went from about $42,000 in 2013 to over $173,000 for 2017.  In the paragraphs underneath that table, InnPower explained that a key contributor to both of these variance -- that's underground distribution operations as well as customer work orders -- was due to the Ontario Onecall legislation, which you mentioned earlier.

And the first question I had is are all one call costs related to contractor costs?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, the majority is attributed to subcontracted labour.  But we also have staff that, when they are out in the field at a site, will respond to locates if they are in the area.

MS. KHOO:  And second, are you able to provide the specific amounts in overhead distribution operations and customer work orders that the legislation specifically accounts for versus other drivers of the increase?

MR. MALCOLM:  We will have to take an undertaking on that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J1.3.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  (1) TO ADVISE WHETHER ALL ONECALL COSTS ARE RELATED TO CONTRACTOR COSTS; (2) TO PROVIDE THE SPECIFIC AMOUNTS IN OVERHEAD DISTRIBUTION OPERATIONS AND CUSTOMER WORK ORDERS THAT THE LEGISLATION SPECIFICALLY ACCOUNTS FOR VERSUS OTHER DRIVERS OF THE INCREASE

MS. KHOO:  Now moving on to the next page, still on this topic, I am looking at the explanation towards the bottom of page 124, which references the increase for management admin finance, regulatory and IT.  And the response -- this may be addressed by the discussion earlier, but the response states that it was due to new hires in 2013.  And then the question I had was all the versions of appendix 2K show that FTEs decreased over 2013, but is that addressed by the kind of net shifting that you were describing earlier?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you.  So the next section I was given to understand went under OM&A, but also refers to the new building.  So I am not sure what panel that might be more appropriate for.  They are to do with incremental costs.

MR. VELLONE:  Proceed with this panel; it's the same witness on both panels that will speak to the building piece.  If it gets more in detail and we need the engineering folks, we can defer it.

MS. KHOO:  I think that will be fine, thank you. Okay.  So please turn to page 14 -- apologies.  I believe that is -- yes, it's actually page 28, thank you.

So according to the table here, which is Undertaking JT1.8, there was a variance between 2014 and 2017 of about $138,714 and is that what -- when InnPower asked for the incremental costs, that's the number that -- you are saying that is the incremental costs?

MS. PINKE:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. KHOO:  And the majority of that, about $82,000, is due to property taxes?

MS. PINKE:  That is correct.  Property tax and insurance for a total of 101 K increase.

MS. KHOO:  And could you please tell me how the property tax was assessed on the building?

MS. COWLES:  The property tax is based on the MPAC assessment.

MS. KHOO:  Sorry, the MPAC assessment?

MS. COWLES:  Sorry, the municipal property assessment corporation, which was included as -- it's included in the undertakings.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And then moving on, still with this table, approximately $17,000 of the variance was due to increases in hydro, water sewer costs, and then there was the note about waste water, so I just wanted to confirm.  Is the entirety of it due to waste water?  Sorry, I am referring to footnote 2, under net incremental costs.

MS. PINKE:  It's not all entirely due to waste water, but there is quite a bit of a difference since we did not have those costs associated at our old building.

MS. KHOO:  And then the rest of it would be hydro and sewer; okay.

MS. PINKE:  Correct.

MS. KHOO:  And the last question on this point, is MEARIE the insurer of this building?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MS. KHOO:  Now if you can move to tab 5, there’s a few questions about InnPower's late payment policy and disconnection notices.

Starting on page 30, just to confirm that I have it --if you scroll a little bit down.  Thank you.  So just to lay it out to confirm, if I am a customer of InnPower, I get my bill on day one, and then 16 days after that is the due date for payment.

MR. BROWN:  Yes, that is correct.

MS. KHOO:  And then three days -- no, that's not right.  So three days after that, InnPower charges me a late payment.

MR. BROWN:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. KHOO:  To clarify, is the late payment -- I noticed there was a chart that referred to -- it was the breakdown down chart from the technical conference that referred to interest, NSF fees.  And does the late payment refer to that interest fee, or is the interest fee separate from a stand-alone late payment?

MR. BROWN:  I think the two terms are interchangeable, late payment and overdue interest; it's actually an overdue interest charge.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And then ten days after that, InnPower sends me a disconnection notice.

MR. BROWN:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. KHOO:  And then I am charged $15 plus HST for that disconnection notice?

MR. BROWN:  If it's been delivered, correct.

MS. KHOO:  So when might it not have been delivered?

MR. BROWN:  If it was not delivered, say a payment was received in the interim between the time the disconnection notice was generated and the time we actually issued the notice.  So we are always checking and reassessing to make sure we’re not sending a notice if a payment had come in.  So we would reverse -- we wouldn’t charge that because the notice wasn't delivered.

MS. KHOO:  Right, okay.  Got it.  And then moving on with this process, on page 30 at line 36 you say:
"At a minimum of 48 hours, an attempt to contact the customer is made prior to sending the disconnection order."


So what -- I guess what constitutes an attempt to contact?

MR. BROWN:  We use an interactive voice response system.  So if we have a customer's phone number, we generate an interactive voice response call, that call is logged and detailed on to the customer's account, so that we understand whether it was answered, whether it went to voice mail.

As well, we try and make personal calls to the customers if we can if we don't hear from them, and in addition, if we have e-mail addresses, we try and respond in e-mail before we actually send out the disconnection order.

MS. KHOO:  Is there a specific process in place that must be followed for the people implementing that, or is it kind of ad hoc by customer, or...

MR. BROWN:  No, there is a specific procedure that we follow for our staff.  And there are always extenuating circumstances with customers, so, you know, we will make extended payment arrangements for them and that type of thing, so offering the arrears management program as required by the Distribution System Code, so...

MS. KHOO:  And then say you call a customer and it logs as it wasn't answered.  Does that count as the attempt having been made?

MR. BROWN:  Like I had mentioned before, we try our best efforts to get a hold of our customers.  The last thing we want to do is disconnect somebody's service, but if we cannot and all attempts have failed then we issue the order for disconnection.

MS. KHOO:  So after you try e-mail, phone, voice-mail, and personal call and haven't been able to reach them.

MR. BROWN:  Correct, and every disconnection order is signed off by management.

MS. KHOO:  And do you track if there are -- or I guess, do you track the customers who end up being disconnected without having received notice because you couldn't reach them?

MR. BROWN:  No, we have not performed metrics on that.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  So notice is given and then the disconnection actually happens, and then if I am the customer InnPower charges me for that act of disconnection?

MR. BROWN:  No, InnPower charges upon reconnection of the disconnection for non-payment.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And so if you're disconnected and you never reconnect then you are not charged?

MR. BROWN:  Correct.  So if the customer left then we would not charge, yes.

MS. KHOO:  And then earlier you had mentioned that if a payment arrives in the interim between the generation and the issuance of the disconnection notice then that process is reversed, they don't get charged the $15 fee.

Have there been circumstances where the notice does arrive with the customer but then you discover it -- kind of sailing ships where the payment did arrive?

MR. BROWN:  Absolutely, yes.

MS. KHOO:  And then at that point do you refund the $15 fee, or...

MR. BROWN:  Yes, we reverse it if a customer reaches out and said, "I have made the payment," and we have the payment, then we reverse the charge, correct.

MS. KHOO:  And what is the $15 fee -- I guess what is the $15 based on?

MR. BROWN:  It is based on approved rates -- well, the $15 is actually for the disconnection notice delivery, not for the reconnection.  And those are approved rates, and are approved rates and tariffs from the Ontario Energy Board for delivery of a disconnection notice.

MS. KHOO:  But is it based on, for example, how much it costs InnPower for the delivery?

MR. BROWN:  That's based on the standard charge in the rate application process handbook.  Our notices are hand-delivered.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And then referring back to the interest, how is that interest calculated for the late payment charge?

MR. BROWN:  According to the OEB requirements in 19.56, per annum.

MS. KHOO:  And then that would be between the dates from the due date to when you issue the interest, or...

MR. BROWN:  Interest is calculated on the next billing and takes into account the number of days.  If payments were received beyond the due date it takes into consideration the number of days the payments were received and calculates interest based on those number of days.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And now if you could please move to page 41.  So this is InnPower's response to Undertaking JT1.4, where you were asked to break down all the different disconnection fees or disconnection-related fees.  And it seemed, looking from 2013 to 2016, that the numbers, in terms of the numbers of notices and disconnects, fluctuate, but the late-payment charges just continue to increase.

So I was just wondering if there was an explanation for that?

MR. BROWN:  Disconnection notices and disconnections of properties -- or service, sorry, fluctuate all the time based on payment arrangements.  Late payments are charged based on the number of days beyond the due date payments are received if they are late.

So there are many cases where a customer would receive a late-payment charge or overdue interest but have reached out and made arrangements with InnPower to make payment arrangements, go on arrears management program, all those things.  So it just varies on that individual at that moment.

MS. KHOO:  But that wouldn't change the total amount that is then paid, it just changes the timing of the payment.

MR. BROWN:  I am sorry, could you clarify what you mean by the total amount -- what the total amount is?

MS. KHOO:  Or if you say, for example, payments are charged, so when I asked the payments are increasing from 2013 to 2016 and you said that's because they are all charged but then the customer might reach out after and go on a payment arrears plan or something like that.

MR. BROWN:  That's correct.

MS. KHOO:  But that doesn't involve waiving any of the fees; right?

MR. BROWN:  That's correct.

MS. KHOO:  So the fees are still increasing then.

MR. BROWN:  Overdue interests are increasing, and from my interim analysis with the increase in electricity costs, it's a percentage, so the percentage of overdue interest is following the percentage of the bills increasing.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And then if you could go back two pages to 39.

MS. DUFF:  Could I ask one question before we leave that page?  You had indicated that management approves every disconnection.  So looking at 2016, would that be you?  You approved 251 disconnections?  Could you just circle back and say how that works?

MR. BROWN:  Yeah, so what -- just for clarity, staff compile the disconnections.  They come to management.  They just review what's going out for the day to ensure that all process has been taken care of.  So it's not a lengthy process, but just ensuring that we have, you know, we have made best attempts, that kind of thing.

So you might have -- you could have ten a day, you could have 12 a day, and you might have weeks with none based on the way the business processes flow, so there's many days you won't be dealing with disconnects based on billing periods and due dates.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Well, since Ms. Duff has asked a question, I will follow up with one.

So just so I am clear on the disconnect notice delivery, so you hand-deliver those distribution connect notices; is that correct?

MR. BROWN:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  And do you use the collection of account charge that's on your tariff?  Is that correct?

MR. BROWN:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. ANDERSON:  So when you're hand-delivering, is there an attempt to collect the account, to reach the customer at their premise and to collect the account at that time?

MR. BROWN:  Yes, there is.  We do have some where the serviceman reports and a collection of account, and as well customers will call the office as well at that time.

MS. ANDERSON:  And so if -- but if you fail to reach the customer you still leave the notice and charge the $15; is that correct?

MR. BROWN:  Yes, the $15 is charged for the delivery of the disconnection notice even if the customer is home and speaks with the serviceman.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, right.  So page 39.  In describing table JT1.3B, which asked InnPower to provide an analysis of the late-payment charges, the response states:
"This increase represents a delay in payments received which can lead to more issues with disconnection notices should they remain unpaid without payment arrangement made."

Could you please clarify what you meant by "more issues"?  So in terms of just more volume-wise or more for the customer -- or I think I just wasn't sure what that meant exactly.

MR. BROWN:  This's exactly correct.  It's not more issues, it's more volume of disconnection notices.

MS. KHOO:  So because the increase represents delay in payments received, because more people are delaying their payments?

MR. BROWN:  Yes, and I can't help but think with 2015, year over year, we are getting colder winters and the increasing cost of electricity, it just means more outstanding for customers.  Even if they make a partial payment, there is still a late payment or overdue interest applied to those accounts.

So that's what we are seeing, and disconnection notices and disconnection of service may not follow that simply because they are just delayed in making payments.

MS. KHOO:  And then just one last question on this section, which is -- still on this page, I believe.  Yes,  right after the table, the aging reports show a 14 percent increase in receivables year over year in the 0 to 30 days bucket.  This increase in receivables could place customers that may have been below the $100 collection threshold to be placed above the threshold.

What does increase in receivables mean?

MR. BROWN:  That just means that they have more outstanding accounts receivable on their account.  So a month, two months, if they go unpaid, it's just adding up on to their account.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, so it's -- so the amount that's outstanding does increase.  It's not as if, for instance, I have $80 and then something else changes and my $80 was suddenly becoming over 100?

MR. BROWN:  No.  So in this example, a customer may have a bill of $80, that doesn't meet the current threshold for the collection activity, but they are billed again now they are above and so --


MS. KHOO:  Okay, yeah.

MR. BROWN:  Yeah.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, that's it for that section, thank you.

So the final section, going to tab 6, and page 43.  So just a few questions on affiliate service costs.  This is JT2.2, InnPower's response to an undertaking by SEC at the technical conference with the year-to-date invoice for July 2017.

So the total amount shown in this invoice is $426,941, which is partly composed of the 242,000 for financial services and 161,000 for water and waste water billing services.

And if you could turn to page 46, appendix 2N here for 2017 shows the prices for water and waste water billing and for financial services.  So I was trying to reconcile those two tables, and I think I understand how you got from the year-to-date invoice number for water and waste water billing costs because you show the prorating and then you end up with $245,000.

But I am not sure for financial services how you get from $210,000 at July 31st, and then by the end of 2017, only you have $232,000.

MS. COWLES:  Yes, appendix 2N was a forecast for the service.  From the time the forecast was made, there was a change in what people would be attributing their time to the financial services agreement.  But it's strictly a forecast, whereas the July 31st, 2017, are actuals and what's actually being invoiced to InnServices.

MS. KHOO:  So would it be accurate to say that for financial services, the actuals far outpaced what was forecast?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, I believe that it will be higher, based on those numbers.

MS. KHOO:  And do you know why that might be?

MS. COWLES:  The amount of work that the financial services department is required to do -- continuing to do for InnServices, which were thought that would be covered in the first year for setting up a lot of the reconciliations.  But they are still dealing with quite a bit of set-up for things.  It's InnServices related schedules, but it's to do with DC revenue and things such as that.

MS. KHOO:  And then final -- almost the final question.  During the technical conference, there was some discussion between the panel and Mr. Garner, a consultant to VECC, about the rate of increase in waste water billing costs versus -- he seemed to think that they were low compared to the rate of increase for InnPower's billing costs under OM&A.  And there's also some discussions with SEC about the cost per bill, which I know more information was provided within that.

So just to follow up on that, unfortunately this is not in the compendium, but it's in undertaking JT2.3.  Would it be possible to pull that up?

So with respect to this table, and you don't have to pull it up, but during the technical conference, when asked what the cost per bill was, Mr. Brown said that it was $2 per bill in the last year of the past five years.  So is this chart representative of that concept of the cost per bill?

MR. BROWN:  No, it's not.  That was the previous agreement that was generated five years earlier in 2012.  And that was at the first -- the inception of taking on water and waste water billing for the town of Innisfil at the time.

MS. KHOO:  And this chart is forecast for 2016 and 2017 moving forward?

MR. BROWN:  Actually, that chart is actual 2016.

MS. KHOO:  The numbers are different, but the information is -- it's the same information, just the specific numbers changed, right?

MR. BROWN:  I am sorry, could you clarify that?

MS. KHOO:  So the only thing that changed is that if someone were to ask what is the cost per bill, during the technical conference for the prior contract it was $2, and this is -- this would answer that same question, but for 2016?

MR. BROWN:  Correct, this is the costs that we have calculated; the $2.40 is the revenue charged.

MS. KHOO:  And during the technical conference, you said that the cost per bill was $2 in the last year of the five years.  So was it different for the prior four years?

MR. BROWN:  Testing my memory, unless I went right to the evidence, I believe it was $1.90 for the first three years and $2 for the remaining two.

And I can get you exact numbers, if I can take a minute to look at the evidence.

MS. KHOO:  Yes, that would be great.

MR. BROWN:  I was correct in my first statement.

MS. KHOO:  Could you please provide where that is, just the citation?

MR. BROWN:  So that was in Appendix 2, SEC --
IR 1-SEC-5.

MS. KHOO:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions for OM&A.  Are we -- and then I just have a couple for cost of capital, so that is a separate compendium.

MS. DUFF:  How long do you expect to be with that?  Do you want to just continue, and then we'll take the break after, or...

MS. KHOO:  I'm happy to go with the room, what people prefer.

MS. DUFF:  How long are you expecting?

MS. KHOO:  Maybe about 15 minutes.  There aren't very many.

MS. DUFF:  Why don't we proceed, because then it would be a natural break for Mr. Shepherd, who is going next with his cross-examination.

MS. KHOO:  Sure.

MR. VELLONE:  Just one comment.  Tab 3 of this compendium includes information that's net new (sic), and I haven't had an opportunity to speak to my clients about it.  So maybe counsel could just explain what they intend to use it for.

MS. KHOO:  Sure.  With apologies for not doing that.  I could ask the question and then the panel could decide whether they would like to answer it, and that would give the purpose of...

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Just to be specific, looking at this document, there are some calculations that have been performed by VECC.

MS. KHOO:  No, this is page 8 you are talking about?

MR. VELLONE:  If you flip over to the --


MS. DUFF:  What is the new information?  Just let me know.

MR. VELLONE:  At tab 3 of the VECC compendium titled "cost of capital" dated October 2nd, there is a document titled "lending rates local distribution companies", and it appears to be from an Infrastructure Ontario website and lists a bunch of lending rates.

MS. DUFF:  Well, given that, why don't we take our break.  Just allows --


MS. KHOO:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  -- an opportunity for the witnesses to review this and make sure they are comfortable proceeding.

Okay.  We will take a 15-minute break and we will resume at quarter after 12:00 -- quarter after 11:00.
--- Recess taken at 10:57 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:15 a.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Did the witnesses have an opportunity to review the compendium provided by VECC?  Are you prepared to proceed?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, we are.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.

MS. KHOO:  So if you could turn to page 3 of the compendium, please, this is InnPower's response to interrogatory 5-Staff-55 showing actual capital structure and costs.

So based on this table, it seems that the long term debt is slightly higher than the Board's deemed rate at 58.03 percent rather than 56 percent.  I just wanted to check; is that still the case?

MS. COWLES:  I haven't done this calculation on most up-to-date financials.  This was the actual for 2016.

MS. KHOO:  And you don't have the number for what it would be for 2017?

MS. COWLES:  No, I don't have that readily available.

MS. KHOO:  Would it be possible to provide that?

MS. COWLES:  We could provide an update definitely for the end of July financials, unaudited.  I am not sure; I'd have to check with staff to find out if we had the August figures available.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  Well, maybe I will tell you what I am trying to get at and you can -- so when we saw that this was above the Board's deemed rate, the question was if the forecast for 2017 was also going to be above the Board's deemed rate, how would InnPower account for, in this case, the additional 200 basis points?

MS. COWLES:  I expect, subject to seeing the financials, but we did take out additional debt at the beginning of the year and with the delay of the rate changes, our revenue is probably lower than anticipated.

So I would expect that if anything, that that probably is still the case, that we are exceeding the debt to equity ratio.

MS. KHOO:  And then did you adjust for that exceeding or no?

MS. COWLES:  No, all the calculations that were included in our rate application were based on the deemed structure.  We did reduce our cost of capital percentage, but that's the only change that we had made and that's unrelated to the debt to equity structure.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  So the application itself is based on the deemed rates?

MS. COWLES:  Correct, it is.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  And then now if you could turn to page 6 and scroll down a little bit?  Thank you.

This is InnPower's response to 5-Staff-56, and maybe something had to be updated, or I am misunderstanding.  But in part B, InnPower stated there's no third party debt forecast for 2017 has been acquired.  But then I am looking at line items 11 and 12 in the table that are dated for 2017.  So is that -- are they booked to be acquired and they just haven't been yet, or if you could reconcile that?

MS. COWLES:  So the amount in January 31st, 2017, was actually part of our capex draw from capital spend from 2016.  It was part of our 2016 forecast and it was just a delay in being able to provide the financial information to the bank to be able to acquire the debt.

The 2017 number is a forecast amount based on our cash flow analysis, based on our forecasted financial statements for the year.

The amount in line 12, the demand loan, the 4 percent, that number is used because we don't anticipate that the debt you acquire at the beginning of the year or necessarily at the end of the year.  We just take half of the debt amount and put the full 4 percent for the full year.

So the actual debt required is -- the principal amount is double that.  But in order to get it into this table, we have used half the principal amount and put in the 4 percent.

MS. KHOO:  And, sorry, where did the 4 percent come from?

MS. COWLES:  That's the rate we show for the 2017 demand loan at the very bottom line of that table.

MS. KHOO:  Sorry, I meant in the real world.  Is that the percentage on the loan that you are intending to get as stated by the lender?

MS. COWLES:  No, I am not -- I don't, I don't know what that loan is; it's just a forecast amount.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  So was the 4 percent based on an average, or the most likely percent?

MS. COWLES:  This whole line item is an estimate because we don't know exactly when those loans will be acquired.  Typically, they don't happen at the beginning of the year; they happen later in the year.  The 4 percent is a complete estimate, too, just because we know that interest rates are rising, and we had heard that and anticipated that in economic reports.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, that makes sense. So the next question is -- I had a question about the interest column.  Before asking it, I notice that there is a footnote there, note 1, but I couldn't find the note that it tracked to in here, or in the original interrogatory, or in Exhibit 5.  So I was wondering if you happened to know what that refers to, or if I could...

MS. COWLES:  Those footnotes are from the Board model. I am not sure what the footnote refers to.

MS. KHOO:  Okay.  I just asked in case it answered the question that I had.  So the question that I did have was
-- this probably, apologies, would have been more helpful with also a stand-alone table provided ahead of time.  But I am given to understand and then I checked -- okay.

So Mr. Garner, consultant to VECC, he told me that he calculated the interest for each of these loans by multiplying the rate by the principal, and then I just did that myself just now over the break to double-check, and it seems, subject to check by you, that the interest numbers are all slightly higher than the amount that you get if you multiply the rate by the principal in each of these columns.

So I guess I was wondering if you already flew that and had an explanation for it.

MS. COWLES:  Yes, we run into this issue every year when we are working with our auditors, and we go back to TD and we ask them, we are using the interest rates from their amortization schedules and what we are actually paying, and that -- the numbers that are in there doesn't come out to a straight calculation, and they have explained to me that it has something to do with the amortization and the way the days are accrued, the 31 and 30 days in doing their and amortization tables, that we could not recreate them internally because of the methodology that they are using.  So these are straight for our amortization tables, the actual interest is paid for each of the loans.

MS. KHOO:  Okay, thank you.  And then the last question, to page 8 -- with apologies again, for not providing this ahead of time.  But the question is just, is there -- okay, so this was based on not realizing the 4 percent was just an estimate.  But is there a reason that InnPower wouldn't avail itself of the lower rates from Infrastructure Ontario as opposed to going to TD, for example?

MS. COWLES:  I know in the past the previous management have considered Infrastructure Ontario for financing their notes.  However, it didn't meet the needs of the organization -- the requirements to provide the loans did not meet the needs of the organization.

MS. KHOO:  So what would be examples of those needs?

MS. COWLES:  For instance, we need continual capex funding as our cash flow goes out, and many of the infrastructure requirements were for actual project funding.  We did use them for the smart meters and funding that deployment, but it was a defined spend, a defined project.

MS. KHOO:  As opposed to ongoing.

MS. COWLES:  Correct, that's an example.

MS. KHOO:  And those are all my questions.  Thank you very much.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Ms. Khoo.

Mr. Shepherd, you are next.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Now, take a break when you see a natural break in your cross-examination.  I think the schedule said for lunch at 11:45, but we are not bound to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  11:45 for lunch?

MS. DUFF:  That's what it said in the schedule.  I didn't create it, but I thought it was a little early, but I am giving you the option of when you think there's a natural break in your cross-examination to nod and let me know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, do you think you can give me a target time and I can find a break around it?  If my target is 11:45 then I will approach it differently than my target is 12:30.

MS. DUFF:  Around 12:00, 12:15.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  It makes the afternoon very long.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Indeed.

Madam Chair, I have a compendium, which I think you have been provided copies of.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Shepherd, we can make this Exhibit K1.5 if that's okay with everyone.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR INNPOWER PANEL 1.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  So witnesses, you -- we know each other, I think.  I want to start at about the stratospheric level here with -- that -- your thesis, Mr. Malcolm, about change, about turning over a new page, as it were.  It's been your theme throughout, and I appreciate why, and I want to ask a couple of questions about that.

If you could turn to page 3 of our materials.  This is an excerpt from the first day of the technical conference.  And this is your opening statement, which, you said similar things today.  You said:
"The past is the past.  We don't dwell on the past, but we do learn from the past."

And you go on to say that you want to improve the utility's performance.

The next day I asked you a few questions about that, and that's on page 4 of our materials, and you said -- and what you are talking about is how your customers feel, and at the community days you got an earful; right?  You can't nod.  You have to say yes or no.

MR. MALCOLM:  I was waiting.  I thought you were continuing on.  I apologize.  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said, "We are not going to hide from that.  We recognize there has been issues in the past," and you went on to say that you knew there were big challenges, but you are going to listen to your customers and in those areas where there are problems you are going to fix them; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So let's just talk about what are those areas.  What are the things specific to your distribution utility?  Because I understand that they are also upset about lots of other things that have nothing to do with you, but what are the things specific to your distribution utility that they are upset about?

MR. MALCOLM:  They are upset with the building, the new building, they are upset with the art sculpture at the corner of the parking lot --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Man, I heard so many things about that, and I am sure you have too; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  The rates they felt -- they found through the announcement from the provincial government in regards to the Fair Hydro Act, they outline that InnPower customers were paying a higher rate and that the distribution rate plan would come out, would assist customers in regards to offsetting the costs because InnPower is a rural utility.  Those were the major themes that were present at the community day.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, and there were a number of -- and I think you have said this as well, right, that there were customers who thought the province is giving us this break and then InnPower is just going to take it; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that was coincidence.  That was not -- you weren't actually taking the province's break; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  No, we weren't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's -- the effect to them was they didn't actually get a bill decrease.

MR. MALCOLM:  That was the perception from the customer.  So the province announced 25 percent reduction.  Shortly after that announcement, the community day announcement and our rate notification from the Ontario Energy Board came out, and on that Ontario Energy Board rate notification it stated that InnPower was raising the rates.

So the customers put the 25 percent reduction from the government and looked at InnPower and stated, "Government gave us a 25 percent reduction.  You are taking that reduction and assuming it as your own for profits."


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, when you -- I wonder if you could go to page 5.  We talked to you about the reasons why you were getting such a negative response from your customers.  And your theme appeared to be that they weren't really upset with you as much as they were upset with the electricity industry generally; is that fair?

MR. MALCOLM:  They were upset with both InnPower and the electricity industry as a whole.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, this is tied a little bit also to some upset about what the town did with water and wastewater; right?  Because there were people upset with that too.

MR. MALCOLM:  They were upset with the rate increases that were also occurring on the water and wastewater billing side as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there were a bunch of people, I think it's fair to say, upset that when PowerStream came calling or EPCOR also came calling, that -- and promised lower rates, the town said no; is that right?

MR. MALCOLM:  I wasn't here for the EPCOR, so I am not sure what was discussed then.  The Electra, yes, it was brought up by a motion by a councillor, who asked that council reconsider Electra, and at the time council turned down that motion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And customers are upset about that because they perceive that Barrie has much lower rates than you do; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Their perception is that Electra will reduce their overall bill by $40 a month.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's true; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That is not correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, why not?  Because I looked at Barrie rates and your rates, and theirs are a lot lower than yours.

MR. MALCOLM:  If you look at the merger between the Hydro Brampton, Enersource, PowerStream, Horizon, the president and CEO stated that there would be a future benefit of a $40 reduction in the long-term.  The $40 was over a ten-year period, which our customers didn't realize that was the statement.

So from the president and CEO of Electra saying that these efficiencies don't happen immediately, it takes time to get these efficiencies within the new organization.  As we gain those efficiencies, then the rates will lower, and they were hoping for $40 within ten years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in fact Barrie's rates are lower than yours in the first place; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Barrie's rates are lower than ours.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the customers would have started out with a benefit.

MR. MALCOLM:  Depending on what was decided when -- if a merger or a takeover took place, that rate filing would go in front of the Ontario Energy Board, and they would decide as to the, what that rate decrease would be for our customers.  I can't comment on that, because I am not part of that process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you had some discussions with Ms. Khoo a minute ago about disconnections, and I wonder if you could turn briefly to her compendium.  Because there were also customers complaining about disconnections as well; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am just looking for where that is in this compendium.  I had it a second ago.  Here it is, on page 41 of Exhibit K1.2.

And am I right in understanding that in the last couple of years InnPower has become a little more hard-nosed about collecting its payments from customers?  I am not saying in a bad way, just sort of, you know, more disciplined.

MR. BROWN:  I would say that, yes, InnPower has looked at historical bad debts and we are looking at changing the way we disconnect.  That being said, as mentioned earlier, we do every attempt to keep customers on.  And case in point, we have issued over 49 AMP agreements since the moratorium ended this year.

So yes, I can't argue your point.  We are trying to minimize those bad debts that all ratepayers eat because of lost revenues and, by the same token, trying to adhere to customers and their needs as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Page 41 -- this is undertaking JT1.4, and this says that from 2013 to 2016, you increased your disconnect notices by 10 percent.  Am I -- that, by the way, is 1.7 percent of your bills, right?  That's about right?  198,000 bills 33, 44, I get 1.7 percent.

MR. BROWN:  Well, accounts would be 16 plus accounts, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, but often the disconnects are for the same customer over and over and over again, right?

MR. BROWN:  Agreed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's why was using bills.

MR. BROWN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's an increase of 10 percent.  But what I see that’s interesting is that the disconnects actually drop from 2013 to 2016.  I assume that by sending out more disconnect notices and becoming a little more aggressive in collections, you basically sort of teaching the customers, like, don't get disconnected, you know, pay up.  Is that right?

MR. BROWN:  I would like to make a clarification on that table.  With our billing system and service order program, we have a disconnect order.  Some staff have been using that disconnect order for disconnect, inspect reconnect service work, or disconnection for new application, which doesn't really apply.  So these numbers may not be a hundred percent accurate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are the most recent numbers accurate, or --


MR. BROWN:  The 2016 numbers would be the most accurate, and we have in place now a secondary order so that we can segregate between the two.  There is still a potential for human error, picking the wrong order when doing something.  But the orders do the same thing.  It's just that in 2013, I suspect -- unless I went through every order, I would suspect that that number would come down.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason I ask that is because these reconnect charges, you see the line disconnect/reconnect charges, they appear to be $27 per disconnect in 2013 and $52 in 2016.

MR. BROWN:  And that would be part and parcel with that same reason why the wrong code.  So the math doesn't work out, I agree with you, and probably because the code is incorrect.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you finding that there's particular areas of your franchise area that you have a lot more disconnects than others -- or a lot more collection problems than others?  Let's put it that way.


MR. BROWN:  That's a good question, I mean we do discuss in group meetings.  I can't answer that, actually, to be honest with you.  I don't know about all the other utilities.  I don't suspect we have a huge problem in disconnections.  We've -- the number of arrears management programs and arrangements that we do for our customers, case in point we reached out to Barrie housing and assisted a customer, got them funding, got them on an AMP agreement, got them reconnected.

So customers are upset about disconnection, absolutely because nobody wants to lose their service.  I can't say for certain that we are any worse than any utility at this point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I heard at your community day -- and tell me whether this impression is correct -- that a surprisingly large number of people saying they were on fixed income and your rate increases were -- they simply had no room.  Like even if it was only five or ten dollars a month, they don't have that five or ten dollars a month.

Was my impression correct, that you had quite a large number of people saying that?

MR. BROWN:  There were some comments made, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is your demographics a relatively large number of retirees?  Because I have heard it said that Innisfil is in fact a retirement community.

MR. BROWN:  In fact, we do have -- well, Innisfil used to be cottage country, original cottage country.  So now a lot of that has been revamped into homes and residences and is now becoming more of a bedroom community.

There are two areas in Innisfil.  One is Sandy Cove Acres, with approximately 1,300 residents and they are all, for lack of a better term, senior residents.  And as well we have a smaller one of about 500, I believe -- don't quote me on that -- in Cookstown as well, which is a similar type of environment.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this would be 12, 13 percent of your customers in just those two retirement communities?

MR. BROWN:  I will trust you on your math, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, all right.  Do you have any special approaches that you take to those more vulnerable consumers to deal with them?  Do you have like particular outreach programs, things like that?

MR. BROWN:  As a matter of fact, yes, and it is filed in evidence, where we actually spent five days in total marketing the OESP program for customers, and I believe two of them were specific in Sandy Cove Acres.  Staff went out, sat down with customers and actually helped them make the applications.

As well, in our office, we advertised two or three days again, and we had dedicated staff in our lobby to come in and help fill out OESP programs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you went out to Sandy Cove Acres, you actually used their clubhouse, right, to be basically your local office for a while to help them, right?

MR. BROWN:  That’s correct, and Brenda's regulatory team took a couple people over and some customer service reps, and they assisted with the application process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You are expecting a lot of additional growth in Innisfil over the next few years.  Like we are talking about one of the fastest growing communities in the province, right?

MR. BROWN:  Indeed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is a lot of that expected to be retirees, or are you going to have more and more commuters or locally employed people?

MR. BROWN:  Since I am in the customer service part, I don't see as much of the engineering side.  But my taking and my understanding is these are all new subdivisions going in.  These will be families and the like coming in.  So I don't know of any other deemed retirement or low-income areas, to my knowledge, and maybe the capital panel could speak to more about the subdivisions coming in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your demographic is going to skew.  Over time, it’s going the skew younger than it has in the past.

MR. BROWN:  I would agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome, thank you.  Back to you, Mr. Malcolm.  Sorry, that was like a side issue -- not for them, but...

Your customers are upset.  They are concerned that in the past you haven't -- not you personally, but you the company haven't really looked after them as well as they would have liked, and you spent too much and all that stuff.

But you are asking for a 31.5 percent rate increase. How do you reconcile those two?  If they are upset, isn't the last thing you want to do to go to them and say, oh, by the way, can you please pay us a third more?

MR. MALCOLM:  The concern is that the communication and the understanding of where the rates are coming from have not been presented to the customer base.

When you meet one on one with the customers and you explain where the rates are derived from and what is happening, there's a population that goes, oh, okay.  There's another population that says, no, you are just making that up.  There is a segment of the population that does not want to see Innisfil grow; they are used to a rural-type community and these new subdivisions are a threat to that retirement village type community that they expected to retire to.

To answer your question in regards to our demographics, yes, it's a lot more commuter traffic folks moving into Innisfil.  The Metrolinx and the GO train are doubling the tracks to Barrie and putting a station within Innisfil.  Subdivisions are based around those GO station locations.  So, yes, there is a higher propensity of people commuting to Toronto from Innisfil now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's actually been delayed quite a bit, right?  Many people of Innisfil thought that growth would have happened already, that Metrolinx stations would be in and all that stuff, and it's been delayed and delayed and delayed.  But eventually it is going to happen, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.  The Friday Harbour development is one area that they expected a couple of years ago.  Now they’re moving full steam ahead in regards to developing that property, and we are starting to see new residents moving into that development.

Sleeping Lion is going through their third and fourth phases now, so, yes, the growth is coming.  It has been delayed compared to what they expected, even from the developer's point of view, but they are ramping up now.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, part of the reason for building your big new building -- which, we disagree on whether it was too big, but part of the reason for that was that you were looking -- not you, but again, the company was looking into the future and saying, "We are going to be a lot bigger.  We better prepare for that"; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.  They were looking at 40 years in advance of what the size of the utility will be, the number of customers they will be serving, and the infrastructure that we'll be maintaining, and decided on that bill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, when we talk about these places like Friday Harbour and Sandy Cove Acres, some of them are subdivisions.  Like, Sandy Cove Acres is a subdivision, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But Friday Harbour is like a sort of like a town within your municipality; right?  Is that fair?

MR. MALCOLM:  It's a vacation location where the residents are not full-time residents.  They cannot stay at that development 365 days of the year.  So it's a unique little development that is starting to pop up throughout these areas that are adjacent to water.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you're planning to spend many millions of dollars to connect that development.  This is for vacationers?

MR. MALCOLM:  It's deemed a vacation spot, but there is also people that live there, but they cannot because of the zoning of the property, cannot stay there an entire year.  So they could stay up to 360 days or 350 days, but they cannot stay the full length.  So it cannot be a primary residence where they are there 365 days of the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's like Canadians being snowbirds in Florida, right?  You can only stay so long.  Is that true?  It's really restricted?

MR. MALCOLM:  Not as restrictive as only being away for six months.  There is greater flexibility here for folks to own this property and rent out their condos to other people as opposed to them staying there.  So it's more like a timeshare that you can have -- you are there for two weeks of the year and someone else is there for the remainder of the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How many housing units are you expecting there, just roughly?

MR. MALCOLM:  Not sure.  I will have to defer to panel 2 on the capital side.  They would have the numbers based on the subdivision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So can you go to page 3 of our materials?  I appear to be going slowly through the materials, but I will pick up the pace later.

You say here -- this is in your original presentation, Mr. Malcolm -- that after the community days, you said to your staff, "Look, we've got to reduce costs.  This is -- we've got to respond to this feedback," and you said -- so you went back and you made changes based on the feedback from the community day.

And I thought well, okay, and then I looked -- if you look at page 2, this is your revenue-requirement work form, and your deficiency when you initially applied was 2.4 million, and your deficiency today is 2.6 million.

How did you improve things for the customers?  How did you respond to their feedback?

MR. MALCOLM:  Mr. Bacon?

MR. BACON:  I will talk to the numbers, Mr. Shepherd, and then we can go from there.

The rationale why the number has gone up is because the other revenue has gone down, and you will see that the revenue at existing rates has also gone down because of a change in load forecast, so those two things -- those two changes in those categories have caused the revenue deficiency to go up by the 200,000.

So I suspect that's not answering your overall question, but that's the details on the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the way I see this, Mr. Malcolm, your revenues without an increase on lines 2 and 3 went down by 300, and your deficiency only went up by 200, so you basically chopped 100 somewhere to improve the situation, but the ratepayers are still worse off today than on the community day when they were all upset; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  According to the numbers, it does look like the customer is worse off based on taking out the revenue numbers for the new building, taking out revenue for the pole attachment fees.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- all right.  Hang on a second.  So I understand the change in the load forecast, and, you know, we will argue about that, presumably, in argument, but the other operating revenue, the two big things, were you had originally had some revenue from the building as per your settlement agreement a few years ago, and you originally had some additional pole attachment revenue, and you have taken those out.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And but for that you'd be almost flat from where you were on the community day, pretty close?

MS. COWLES:  In this revenue-requirement work form, where it says "initial application", that's actually the amended application from May.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh.

MS. COWLES:  So the 3 percent reduction we had done was already included in there along with the removal of the -- all those items that were identified at the community day.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's already in the first number.

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So what was it before then?

MS. COWLES:  We don't have the number from prior to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Aha, okay.  Actually, I do have it.  I am looking at your original filing.  So it was -- 3.5 million was the deficiency initially.  But that was an erroneous filing; wasn't it?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, it was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the actual number was about 2.5 -- 2.6; is that right?  This is because there is a problem with the Board's model.

MR. BACON:  The number -- the deficiency would actually be the 12,385,532 minus the 9,677,673.  Whatever that number is would be the actual deficiency.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So that's 2.4 million; right?

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the 2-point -- so you had a deficiency of 2.4 million when you originally filed, then you made a bunch of changes and got to, as we see on page 2, a deficiency of 2.4 million, and then you make a bunch of further changes and got to a deficiency of 2.6 million, so I am still not seeing where you responded to the customers.

I wonder -- I wonder, rather than -- because I appear to have caught you by surprise.  I wonder if I can pick this up after lunch.  I will go on to something else right now, and after lunch I will come back to this, and maybe you will have a chance to think about it; is that fair?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. DUFF:  Just one question.  The sheet that's in front of us right now, you have taken this from which filing?  The November 26th?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, November '06.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the one that is right in front of you now is the one I filed here, it's the current one.  The one that was up before which had the 3.5 million, that was from '06, November '06.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, let me -- Mr. Malcolm, you are the new CEO since August 2015, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  2016.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, 2016?


MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I should ask you whether you are having fun, but clearly coming into a rate case is not the most fun thing you could do.


You are also CEO of InnServices, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That is the water and waste water business of the town.


MR. MALCOLM:  It is the water and waste water.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's approximately the same size, in terms of customers and all that stuff, operationally as the LDC, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  Less than the LDC.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we are going to come to the financial statements.  But both revenue and rate base are way higher.


MR. MALCOLM:  The customer base for the LDC includes south Barrie.  South Barrie is not included in the InnServices area.


But we also do service -- provide water service to Bradford West Gwillimbury.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So your salary is split 50/50 between the two organizations, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It sort of sounds like the town feels like the LDC can get by with a part-time CEO, and I don't mean that in a disparaging sense.  But most LDCs of the size of InnPower have a full-time CEO.  Why is it okay in your case to have a part-time CEO?


MR. MALCOLM:  The board of directors for InnServices and InnPower felt that it was appropriate to share the resources of one president and CEO for the town utilities as opposed to having separate president and CEOs overseeing each different utility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, and I am trying to understand why that makes sense for InnPower and it doesn't make sense in Milton or a dozen other smaller, fast-growing communities.


MR. MALCOLM:  Milton is an LDC.  It does not have a separate municipal service corporation for the water and waste water component of their business, so it's inherent within the town of Milton, where this is a separate identity from the town of Innisfil.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't sense that you are answering my question.


MR. MALCOLM:  I am probably not understanding your question.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My question is how can you run a utility with only 50 percent of your time?


MR. MALCOLM:  I am charged with running both utilities; it's not 50 percent of my time allocated.  So if you take an 8-hour day, am I only working 4 hours on InnPower and 4 hours on InnServices?  No, I put in more hours than an 8-hour day, so I am able to run both companies based on the number of hours outside of what someone would typically see as a normal 8-hour day.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure, but you have worked in other LDCs.  CEO's never work eight hours a day, do they?


MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So even if you had a full-time CEO, even if you were a full-time CEO of InnPower, you wouldn't be working half time.  You would be working more than eight hours a day, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  And I am putting in a full day for both companies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, I will leave that.  We are going to come back to how this is being billed to InnServices later.


I want to ask you about something you said, and this is on pages 6 and, unfortunately, page 8 of my materials, because my materials have page 7 in the wrong place.  So 6 and 8 are actually one after the other, should be one right after the other.


And you were asked, Mr. Malcolm, whether most management employees in 2016 had an assessment of favourable performance.  This is a utility that's having trouble.  And you said at the top of page 8 that yes, they did.


I don't understand how most people can have favourable performance if the customers are unhappy.  Explain?


MR. MALCOLM:  2016 was based on the 2015 time frame.  I was not involved at InnPower during 2015, so I cannot answer as to why the folks received their pay performance for 2016 based on 2015 results.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, this is not -- this is not 2016 performance; this is 2015 performance.


MR. MALCOLM:  It's retroactive.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So some of those people are gone?


MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I withdraw the question. Can we go back to the rate increase.  And if I understand correctly, a big impact is the new building, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So you have $2.6 million in rate increase that you are asking for, and so if you look at page 7 -- and you have seen this already because it was in my friend's compendium -- undertaking JT1.8 talks about the OM&A impact of the new building, and that's 139,000, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  I will defer to Ms. Pinke.


MS. PINKE:  Yes, the incremental costs associated with the new building is approximately 139,000, or 138,715.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And most of that is property taxes and the increase in waste water services because you are not on septic anymore, right?  I’d say almost a hundred of it.


MS. PINKE:  Yes, correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's all going to the town or to InnServices.


MS. PINKE:  The property tax and water and waste water, yes, they are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So basically from the town's point of view, it is out of one pocket into another pocket, right?


MS. PINKE:  I am sure you could possibly state it that way, but it's a payment that is made.  It's a cost associated with our building.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The building is assessed at 5.9 million?  I think I saw that.


MS. PINKE:  On the MPAC assessment, correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And you have about 10 million actually in rate base, right?  And that's on page 9 of our materials.


MS. PINKE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said earlier, Mr. Malcolm, that 10.9 million was put into rate base.


MR. MALCOLM:  10.1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was 10.1, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  10.1.


MR. SHEPHERD:  As opposed to what you really spent, which was more than 13, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  13.2 million.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I see here on page 9 of the materials that you have basically a $9.5 million increase in your rate base as a result of the building, and I am guessing that's around -- we don't need to be precise.  It's around $850,000 in revenue requirement.  Am I in the ballpark?


MR. BACON:  Yes, you are in the ballpark because the ICM revenue is 845, so there you go.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I did check.  And so basically, between the OM&A increase and the increase in the cost of rate base for deprecation and all that stuff, that's a million dollars, and that's directly driving your deficiency, right?  That's a million dollars of your deficiency, fair?


MS. COWLES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So here is why I am asking that.  It’s because we have been sort of merrily going along thinking that mostly this case is about the big increase in your rates resulting from the building.  But it's actually only a million of the 2.6.


You’ve still got a $1.6 million rate increase that is driven by other things, right?


MR. MALCOLM:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And would you accept, subject to check, that's 19.2 percent?


MR. MALCOLM:  The second component equates to about a 10.7 million increase in rate base based on the four years impacted by the higher than normal investments in system access and system renewal.


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I do understand that you have underlying reasons for it.  The fact remains that you spent a lot of money and you are asking the customers to pay a lot more, and you're really not giving them anything more for it, are you?

MR. MALCOLM:  We are increasing the value of the utility by servicing the new customers that are coming online.  We are increasing our reliability to ensure that old poles that need to be replaced are replaced in an appropriate time frame so that they are not inconvenienced by interruptions.  So, yes, there is benefit to the customer in what -- the program we are doing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the new customers pay for the new -- for the spending on their attachments; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  But as new customers come online, the revenue that we receive from the new customers helps with the total rates within the community itself.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So rates are going down, then?

MR. MALCOLM:  As you have more customers online and you are basically spreading your costs over a higher rate base, in theory you are supposed to see a reduction.  But we are also faced with an older-aged system that panel 2 will discuss in regards to the DSP plan and our capital improvements that are driving a lot of these costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Just before I leave the building, I just want to ask one side question about that, and that is, you agreed in the settlement agreement in 2015 to an amount for the building of 10.1 million; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's -- and, in fact, in your refiled application you are saying, and that's what we are going to put in rate base because that's what we agreed to; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you also agreed that the extra space that you would have, you would get rent from, you credit that to the ratepayer, but you are saying, no, no, we are not going do that any more, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  We have eliminated that section so it's about 5,466 square feet of vacant office space on two storeys adjacent to our building.  We are removing that from the customer so they are being saved harmless.  We were intending to use the revenue from the lease to offset the cost of that extra addition on the building when, in fact, because the lease was signed at a later date, the revenue is not there.

So taking a look at that, I said it doesn't make sense for the ratepayers to pay for that cost of that portion of the building.  We are not obtaining any revenue from it, and it's impacting the rate base itself.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We appear to be -- sorry, we appear to be confusing two things, though.  One is your cost overrun of $3 million, which you haven't included in rate base, and the other is the costs of the empty space, which is also a few million dollars, and that you appear to be treating them as if they are the same thing.  They are not, are they?

MR. MALCOLM:  I am not sure where you are getting the $3 million overrun for the entire building.  The building has been shown that it was within budget, so the extra 3 million, I am not sure what you are referring to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You spent $13.2 million on the building.  You --


MR. MALCOLM:  On the entire building.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And --


MR. MALCOLM:  Including land, including all the ancillary services, the road-widenings, the furniture, just not the building itself.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you agreed in 2015 that the number would be 10.1 million.  They are comparable numbers; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  For that settlement it was 10.1 based on the settlement for the -- until the next rebasing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying that if you spent more that would be okay.  You would be allowed to ask for more money from the ratepayers.

MR. MALCOLM:  No, what we are doing is we are -- the cost of the building was -- it was a tendered project.  It had a lot of costs associated with it.  It was managed in regards to making sure that it wasn't -- the costs weren't going over budget, so the cost of building and maintaining it is what we are asking for in this submission.

So I am not sure --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you are actually asking for what you agreed to in 2015; right?  10.1 million?

MR. MALCOLM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's just by chance that's the same number as you say is the part of the building that isn't rented out that you are using.

MR. MALCOLM:  No, we took the portion of that building and removed it from the rate base itself, and it happened that the number works out to 10.1 when that second part is removed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You agreed with your customers in 2015 that the reasonable cost of the building was 10.1 million and that there would be extra space that would be rented out and the ratepayers would get the benefit.  You are now reneging on the second part of that agreement; isn't that right?

MR. VELLONE:  So we are getting well into argument here.  I am open to the Panel's suggestion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not allowed to put it in argument until I put the question to the witness.

MS. DUFF:  Please continue.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The question is out there.

MS. DUFF:  It's the characterization of the differential.

MR. BACON:  Is it possible to actually pull up the settlement agreement so we know what we are looking at?

MR. SHEPHERD:  10,110,000 is the number.  You can pull it up if you want.

MR. BACON:  I think we are trying to understand the -- in the settlement agreement, did the offset -- was it associated with the 10 or with the difference between?

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know?

MR. BACON:  That is what we are trying to understand.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The company doesn't know?

MS. DUFF:  Let's just look at the settlement agreement and see what it says.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, all right.

MS. DUFF:  Actually, I think it's the top of page 9 is the appropriate reference.

MR. VELLONE:  I am going to offer to help, Madam Chair, and you can tell me if you want it or not.  This is a legal interpretation exercise that Mr. Shepherd is asking.  I could attempt to bring the Board Panel to the relevant provisions of the settlement that is informing their decision-making, and the Panel can use it or not use it as you see fit.

MS. DUFF:  Not yet.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sorry, Madam Chair, it's not really appropriate for counsel to give evidence.

MS. DUFF:  I think the question still stands regarding --


MR. SHEPHERD:  If the company doesn't have a position on my question -- I have asked them if they are reneging.  If their answer is, "No, we are not reneging," that's fine; then the rest of it is argument.

MS. PINKE:  I am going to attempt to answer this, as I was party to the settlement agreement; other parties were not --


MS. DUFF:  Just be careful.  Make sure that you don't say anything that's not in the written word, okay?

MS. PINKE:  It's our understanding that we are not reneging on the agreement.  You know, it was a matter of, at the time, the size of the leasing area, that's why there was an agreement on the reduction of the $2.3 million due to the leasing areas.  We did agree to put in the leasing revenues offset if it wasn't leased.  This area was not leased from the time of settlement, it was just leased until September.

So this is why we are saying it wasn't an intent to not honour the agreement.  There were no revenues during that time frame.  There were multiple attempts to lease it.  It was not leased.  So there were no revenues to provide.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And now the revenues are only actually 33,000 a year; is that right?

MS. PINKE:  It's 33,000 for 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, for three months.

MS. PINKE:  For three months.  What's happening now is that the area is going underneath the -- undertaking the leasehold improvements, so, you know, rent has commenced, but we can guarantee there was absolutely no revenues from the time of this agreement to the time of this application and the updates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  Madam Chair, this would probably be a good time to break.

MS. DUFF:  All right, good.  We will break for, yeah, just one hour, and we will resume at twenty after 1:00.

Okay, thank you.
--- Luncheon recess at 12:17 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:24 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated, thank you.  Okay, we will resume our cross-examination.  Mr. Shepherd,  would you please proceed?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

You recall that before the break, I asked you about the changes to the deficiency from 2.4 to 2.4 to 2.6.  Have you had a chance to think about that?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, we did have an opportunity to look at that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  I wonder if you could then sort of explain it, if you'd like.  How are the customers benefitting from the fact that you listened in the community day?

MS. COWLES:  So the November submission had revenue deficiency of 2.7 million.  The following submission, after we took into the community day and the changes made following that, it dropped to 2.4.  Then as a result of the pole and other revenue coming out, it went back to 2.6.

But without the changes that management had made as a result of community day, it would have been .3 or .3 million higher than what we submitted.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it would be 2.9 --


MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- at this point.  Now, Mr. Bacon said before the break that he thought it was 2.4 in the previous…

MR. BACON:  No, we checked the numbers and it was actually 2.7.  I made an incorrect calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You know you are not supposed to do math on the stand, right?

All right.  Can we go to page 10 of our materials, please?  I want to go into a new area.  It sort of follows along, but it has some additional elements.

Page 10 is a table of the benchmarking results from the Board's materials from 2010 to 2015, and you have seen this already before.  It was attached to the interrogatories and you actually responded to it, right?  Somebody can confirm that?

MR. BROWN:  Yes, we have seen that before.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.  And what it shows is that InnPower, which is shaded here -- it's actually yellow on the colour copy, which is so much nicer -- was below predicted cost fairly consistently, although getting worse and worse, for 2010 to 2014.  And then in 2015, you went to above predicted costs, right?

MS. PINKE:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if we look at page 12, we will see that your forecasting now in the bridge and test years, that you are going to be even more above predicted costs, 9.1 percent and 9 percent, right?

MS. PINKE:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now I think you said in the technical conference -- I don't have it in my materials, but I am sure you will remember -- that your target is to stay within the third cohort, right?

MS. PINKE:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you went from minus 7.1 to plus 9.1 last year, but that change is still within the cohort, right?

MS. PINKE:  It's still within the cohort, yes, and we do recognize that we are no longer below our predicted costs; we are above the predicted costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you accept, subject to check, that in 2015, your benchmarking performance is number 55 out of 72 LDCs?  There's 17 worse than you in 2015; does that sound about right?

MS. PINKE:  I'd have to verify that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept it, subject to check?  I did count.

MS. PINKE:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks. See, the reason I am asking this is because I went back and looked at your 2014 predicted costs.  Now here on page 12, you have your 2015.

But 2014 is on the Board's website.  And so your predicted cost in 2014 is 12,359,022 on the benchmarking rules.  And your actual cost was 12,018,769, so you were below, right?

I am not asking you to accept the numbers, they are on the Board's website.  It's really the conclusion I am coming to.  But you were below your predicted costs, right?

MS. PINKE:  In 2014?

MR. SHEPHERD:  In 2014.

MS. PINKE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now in 2017, your predicted costs as you see here is 13,978,643 because the Board's model says your costs in those three year will go up 13.15 percent.  That's a reasonable amount for them to go up, which seems like a lot to me, but that's what the model says.

But your actual costs in this calculation, which is not a -- which is a number that's sort of melds capital and operating in a funny way, is 15,298,952; do you see that?

MS. PINKE:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's an increase of more than 27 percent over 2014 actual costs.  So I went and I looked to see -- well, some of that obviously, there's about a million dollars or so which is the building.  But from 2014 to 2017, what's the reason why you have all this additional increase in cost relative to predicted which is, you know, already going up pretty high?

MS. PINKE:  I believe Mr. Malcolm addressed some of those increases that were addressed in his opening statement on the costs.  In addition to the building, we did have an additional 10 million in asset capital into rate base from our regular planning, so --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me just stop you, because the reason why I am asking it again in this context is this is an econometric benchmarking model that solves for all those things.  When you have growth, when you have density issues, when you have old assets, those things are solved for in this model.

I am asking what's different about you that your costs should go up 27 percent when the model says they should only go up 13 percent.

MS. PINKE:  I understand that the model takes those variances into account and those things, but I really don't understand or expect that the outcome dictates the percentage increase of various factors.  I don't think that the building is a factor that's built into this or large capital plan that was outside of our scope for over our inception pretty well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the large capital plan was because of growth, right?

MS. PINKE:  It's a combination of growth, of preparing for growth, and a combination of our new administration building.  And it was a cost, and we recognized that it was a cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  But the administration building, leaving that aside, you are still well above the Board's benchmark, right?

MS. PINKE:  I don't believe we are above the Board's Benchmark.  We are in the parameters of the group 3 rating, plus or minus 10 percent of costs.  Yes, we are now on the positive side of the costs, but we are still within those parameters.  So maybe I don't understand your question, Jay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you will agree that it's cold comfort to the ratepayers to say, well, we were 10 percent below predicted costs and now we are 10 percent above, but that's okay.  That's still a big rate increase for them, isn't it?

MS. PINKE:  It is a big rate increase and we realize that it does impact the customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I am asking is there something unique about your utility that causes your costs in the near term to go up more rapidly than the Board's model says they should?

MS. PINKE:  I believe it's our growth.  Our growth is above the provincial average.  If I look at the PEG data, the provincial average for growth is about 1 percent including amalgamations, not organic growth.  Our growth is over 2 percent and has been consistently since 2011, and it's all organic growth.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And of course, growth is a variable in the model, right?

MS. PINKE:  I’m sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Growth is a variable in the model, right?

MS. PINKE:  It is a variable in the model, but it also uses provincial averages.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, it doesn't.

MS. PINKE:  Well, there are components where it does use provincial averages.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am not going to argue about that.

MS. PINKE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am really just trying to get you to talk about your unique challenges and how to deal with them because -- but you seem to be saying, "No, it's all fine.  This is okay."


MS. PINKE:  I don't really think that's what I stated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  I am going to move on.

This is for you, Mr. Malcolm.  These issues, issues of the complaints of your customers and the Financial Post article that you talked about before that had your rates very high and the high rate increase generally, you talk about this stuff with your board of directors; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's their response?

MR. MALCOLM:  Their response is, is that, as any board of directors would indicate, is to look at your cost structures and see what's included in those costs and what's driving those factors up.  And, you know, they're interested, like anybody else is, to ensure that the ratepayers are seeing a lower rate, reduced electricity charge, as opposed to something that's higher, so the discussion is, is look at what is driving these costs and what can we do to bring those costs back, if we can.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the mayor and the town's chief administration officer are two of your five directors; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, they are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Aside from that, I understand you to say that you don't have any discussions with the shareholder -- except for the discussions you have with them as directors, you don't have any discussions with the shareholder about these big rate increases and whether they are okay and that sort of thing; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  During the annual general meeting for the shareholders, that is brought up.  We bring forward our budget and what the impacts to the customer will be as part of our AGM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the town of Innisfil has told you publicly, I assume, that 31.5 percent rate increase is fine with them?

MR. MALCOLM:  Not specifically.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do they know?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.  They know that our rates are higher.  It's on their agenda to figure out why we are where we are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they are still fine with you going ahead and asking for it.

MR. MALCOLM:  No, they took a look at -- they asked the question, what are you doing to offset these increases.  We have explained what we have done through the community day presentations.  The -- a few of the councillors were there at that meeting and explained their concerns as well, and that's why we revised our rate application going forward, is based on the comments that we received not only from our customers as stakeholders but as councillors as their stakeholders as they are the shareholder of this company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  You have a shareholder declaration; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I couldn't find it in the application anywhere.  I thought it was a filing requirement, but we have looked around for it and it doesn't appear to be anywhere.  Can you undertake to file it?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO FILE A SHAREHOLDER DECLARATION.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right in understanding -- I asked you about this at the technical conference, so I am sure you have had a chance to go back and look at it since then.  Am I right in understanding that the town has to approve your budget?

MR. MALCOLM:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. MALCOLM:  Through the AGM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They do it at the AGM?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, I present it at the AGM.  So it's not a -- the board of directors approves the budget and then the budget gets presented to the AGM for the shareholders to take a look at it.  They are not approving our budget, the board of directors are approving our budget, but it is presented.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The shareholder declaration doesn't say that the shareholder must approve the annual budget.

MR. MALCOLM:  It says that we have to bring it forward to them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if you can go to page 13 of our materials.  I am moving into OM&A.  And this is your most recent 2L.  This was actually filed in September, but I think it was not changed from the previous one in June.  This is the one that was filed, like, last week, I think.

And I just want to take you to the OM&A per customer line.  Do you see that?  I don't know who I am asking the questions to, but whoever it is, do you see that line?  And it says for 2016, for example, it says your OM&A per customer is $289, and I went to the Bard's yearbook, and it says that your OM&A per customer is $354.17 per customer.  I think the reason for that is that when you do the calculation you include connections in your ratio; don't you?

MR. BACON:  Connections are in the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the Board's official OM&A per customer numbers in the yearbook do not include connections; right?

MR. BACON:  I will take your word for it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason why I ask that is because I am trying to do a comparison, and it appears -- and tell me whether you will accept this -- that your OM&A per customer is the -- is number 56 out of 72 in the province; that is, with number one being best.  Does that sound about right to you?

MS. COWLES:  I haven't looked at that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, you don't compare your OM&A to -- you don't benchmark it to other utilities?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Who do you benchmark it to?

MS. PINKE:  We undertake a -- it's not -- we undertake by size of customer, we undertake -- compare by the size of our LDC, we undertake by the kilometre of line, all the different things that are unique to Innisfil, to sort of see if costs are in line with those different variables.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so your OM&A per customer is worse than most of the utilities in the province; right?

MS. PINKE:  It's higher, yes, we will agree.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And in fact, you had a -- you are a member of the CHEK Group; right?

MS. PINKE:  Yes, I remember the CHEK Group.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, you are a member of the --


MS. PINKE:  Yes, we are a member of the CHEK Group, sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the CHEK Group did a study a couple of years ago, and you were last out of CHEK Group; weren't you?

MS. PINKE:  We were last in a lot of the components that are measured in the PEG, the unique thing being there that, you know, the size of our territory compared to a lot of the CHEK LDCs, we don't do an awful lot of comparison to them.  You are talking the 2014 CHEK analysis, I believe?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, yes.

MS. PINKE:  Okay.  I think now if we look at -- you know, we have provided the 2015, and there has been some great improvements in a lot of those areas of measurement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your performance is still pretty bad relative to most of them; right?

MS. PINKE:  It's bad in comparison to the other CHEK LDCs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. PINKE:  But we are still meeting, I am going to say, OEB targets of measurement that we need to meet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the average OM&A per customer in the province in 2016, excluding Hydro One, because Hydro One doesn't count, is $277.94, and you can check that if you want, so your 354 is 27 percent above the average for the province.

Can you give us a sort of a brief summary of why that would be reasonable?  And that's before your rate increase that you are asking for this year.

MS. PINKE:  I think, as we have explained, I think in other times we have seen increases in OM&A as we prepare for the growth ahead of us.  And until we see further densification occurring --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I --


MS. PINKE:  -- the cost will be the cost at this point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there's no reasonableness test for the cost?  The cost is just the cost, whatever it is?

MS. PINKE:  I don't think that the cost is just the cost.  Let me try and explain that in better terms, Jay.

We have seen increases in cost.  We have seen -- but we really do feel that they support the activities that are required to maintain the activities that have been undertaken, and that they have to -- you know, are there to support the growth and the people and the changes that we have been experiencing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your customers are going to, are, if your proposal is accepted, going to pay 31.5 percent more this year than last year.  What are they getting for that 31.5 percent?  What's the outcome to them, the benefit to them?

MS. PINKE:  Well I think if we measure everything based on the comments that we heard at community day, which were how many customers, 300, 325, and we understand their concerns, but the benefits are, you know they do have an area where they can come in, they can talk to us, we can offer them solutions on their bill.  We do have very good reliability of our service.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they are giving you an extra $2.6 million for that?  That sounds like they are overpaying.  Feel free to jump in, Mr. Malcolm.

MR. MALCOLM:  So we recognize that there has been issues in the past, and we recognize that we have to make changes.  The changes that we have to make do not occur overnight.  The issues that we have today did not happen yesterday, they happened over a period of time.  The direction that we are moving in is to ensure that we are providing extreme value to our customers and our stakeholders.  So it's going to take time.  There are inherent issues that we need to deal with, and that's what we are trying to accomplish here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why would the customers pay more in the meantime?  Why don't you wait until you have got things fixed and then ask them to pay for if you are delivering more?


MR. MALCOLM:  We still have to maintain our distribution system.  We still have to operate this corporation.  You just can't shut the corporation down and say let's wait until everything gets fixed.  It's a progression that has to occur over a period of time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, I wonder if you can turn to page 15 of our materials.  So this is your appendix 2JC again the one that was filed last week, I think.  I want to ask you a couple of questions about this.


Before I get into the details of the line items, where are the custom IR costs on this?  Tell me what box they are in, what year and what line.   Custom IRs cost a lot of money and I didn't see any numbers big enough to say oh, there it is.

MS. COWLES:  That would be on line 5 under administration, 1.603.  It's in that total.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's that 1.603.  So it's not in regulatory?

MS. COWLES:  No, it's not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And how much was it?  Can you just give me a rough idea of what was the total cost of the custom IR application that you ultimately withdrew?

MS. COWLES:  It was equivalent to about six months of labour for one employee, one manager, and there was about $40,000 of consulting costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we are talking about 120, $130,000?  In that ballpark?

MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That seems very cheap for a custom IR application.  I have seen bills of more than a million for those.

MS. COWLES:  Well, we were doing it in-house.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  So let me ask you about a couple of these lines.  So the overall increase in OM&A that you are proposing from 2013 to -- 2013 Board-approved to today, to 2017 is 22.5 percent, which I get to be a compound annual growth rate of 5.5 percent -- sorry 5.2 percent.  So that seems high to me.  Did you look at it from that basis?  Is this rate of increase too high?

MS. COWLES:  We do look at it at that level, but we also look at it in more detailed level. So when we are looking at the actual costs as they are incurred year over year, we are looking at the explanations for why they are higher than anticipated.  And we have touched on some of those explanations already, the building, Ontario Onecall.  There are some additional regulatory requirements that require additional time.  There's additional labour costs as we experience different labour challenges.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm, okay.  All right.  So your admin costs went up by 23.7 percent in that same period, slightly more than the average, but I am particularly interested in a couple of them.  Obviously the building we know about; right?


MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No surprise there.

MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But I saw audit, legal and consulting went up by 33 percent.  That seems odd.

MS. COWLES:  So during that period, we had an increase in -- our audit bills have gone up as a result of IFRS implementation, and you will see it increased quite a bit in '15.  That was just to deal with all the restatement of the financial statements.  But also we had to knock the depreciation of our assets into the cost of the asset and that required additional consulting charges to do that.

The ongoing audit after that was higher as a result of IFRS and the expanded notes to the financial statements, and we ended up with increased costs there.


We also had some legal costs increases due to rewriting the subdivision agreement to be more in check with the Distribution System Code, and ensuring that we were having -- that that was written appropriately.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just before you go on I just want to make sure I don't lose the IFRS thing.  I see the blip in 2015 as a result of your one-time IFRS costs, but it is strange that from 2016, when it gets back to normal, to 2017 you have a $45,000 increase in that line.  That seems a lot.

MS. COWLES:  We had low legal costs in 2016 that offset the increase in the audit costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ah, all right.  Okay, sorry, I stopped you.  Go on; was there something else on that line that I should be aware of?

MS. COWLES:  No in the 2017 year we were rewriting the -- we had more legal contracts, more legal invoicing to do with rewriting the subdivision agreement.  Because of the increase in growth and the increase of subdivisions we wanted -- and the impact of some very large subdivisions we weren't talking about small developers anymore; we were talking about quite large developers, so we took our subdivision offer to connect out and had it reviewed and revised with legal services.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's also a one-time cost.  You are not expecting to have to do that every year?


MS. COWLES:  Correct that's a one-time cost, but I believe that the DSC just came out with some more revisions, so we will have to look at it on an ongoing basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, all right. And then the other one I wanted to ask about in the G&A section is information systems because that went up 73 percent in four years.  That seemed like an awful lot.  Can you help me with that?  And this is the OM&A side of it, not the capital side; right?

MR. BROWN:  I would have to look at the individual items within that.  This account tracks all the software maintenances as well as our internal IT infrastructure maintenance.  So we have a lot of software, CIS, engineering software, Great Plains financial software.  So this is all those software costs that we have incurred.

And we have developed additional softwares.  Like I mentioned this morning, mobile workforce management adds to the software costs.  We have just introduced the budgeting software and that has maintenance attached to it as well.  And as well, the IT infrastructure as well has a lot of costs associated with it and that's for maintenance, for disaster recovery planning.  So we have maintenance on all of our servers and all of our internal IT as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your mobile workforce and your budgeting software, they are supposed to save you money.

MR. BROWN:  They are.  The savings that I alluded today are over and above the cost and spread out over the depreciation period.

So the way they calculate the cost is they're looking at the bodies.  I don't calculate every one of these, but they look at the bodies that it's saving, the time it is saving, and then they take the cost of the software off and maintenance as well.  The maintenance still increases every year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are these phantom bodies?  I didn't hear you saying, "By the way, we are going to save this $141,000 and we are going to save some additional money," which is normally why you do that; right?  I didn't hear you say that.

MR. BROWN:  No, I didn't say that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is an incremental cost.

MR. BROWN:  Yeah, definitely, yes.  This is -- there is incremental, but the benefits of having the software in add to the savings, so you are going to -- it really is -- it boils down to productivity and efficiencies.  So we will be able to do more with less by having these softwares, so, yes, it is incremental cost.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are adding more people.

MR. BROWN:  I don't believe we are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't know.  39 last time, 44 this time.  Isn't that five more people?

MR. BROWN:  There's other things that involve -- that are involved with that in growth, and that's the customers.  For instance, in customer service we had 8,000 walk-ins last year and 22,000 phone calls recorded, and that's just what we record, so there's volume with the increasing customers and as we grow.  We've added quite a few customers since then, so there are other costs, you know, associated with billing, collecting, customer account representatives to answer phone calls and do that.  So administration costs go up as well, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, and the other one I wanted to ask you about is the maintenance line, because the maintenance line you've been increasing at 6.4 percent per year, but you've also spent a bundle on capital, and so normally if you spend a bunch on system renewal and on system access so you have a bunch of new stuff, you have less maintenance costs.  So I am not sure why your maintenance costs went up 28 percent over four years.  Can you help me out with that?

MR. BROWN:  Sorry, just for clarity, is that on the information systems?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, this is -- I am looking at the subtotal of the maintenance session.  I am not in information systems anymore.  Not your problem.

MS. COWLES:  So I understand that maintenance costs go down if you are replacing existing infrastructure.  But when your distribution grid is expanding, you are going to have additional maintenance costs.  You still have maintenance costs on the new infrastructure you are putting in.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, not initially, right?  It's new.

MR. VELLONE:  This line of inquiry might be better directed at panel 2, the engineers --


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am happy to move on.

All right.  I am going to leave that page for now and go to -- if you look at page 17.  So page 17 is your year-to-date numbers for those same categories.  I am looking at those numbers, and they are split up between labour and non-labour, which is helpful.

And it's -- the reference is JT1.20, but it's page 17 of our materials.  And if you just gross those up to the end of the year, this looks like OM&A that is significantly less than what you've forecast.

MS. COWLES:  Yeah, you can't take this as seven months of straight costs and just extrapolate it over the 12 months.  We actually sat down as a management team, and we do this regularly, and compare it to what our trended budget is, and sitting down with all the managers and looking at where we are year-to-date, to what we have trended, we are on target to spend this by the end of the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if I just extrapolate, I get $430,000 less for the year, you are saying that's not a fair comparison because you are going to spend more in the last five months per month than you spent in the first seven months.

MS. COWLES:  Correct, it's all about timing of the different projects and different staffing complements when jobs are being done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So do you do then comparisons to year-to-date for the previous year?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, we do.  In our expense analysis we have year-to-date, prior year, and year-to-date, current year, compared to the budget year-to-date.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you could give us, for example, year-to-date July 31st, 2016 for this entire table; right?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, I could do that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could do that.  It's not a big deal to do it, right?  It comes right out of your -- you can do a report right out of your system.

MS. COWLES:  We have to group -- our trial balance is different than this, so obviously we have to group it to fit this schedule, so grouping it by program and by APH code instead of how we have got it sectioned off in our expense analysis, but it can be done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not a team of people working a week.

MS. COWLES:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you can do that then.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It will be Undertaking J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO JULY 31ST, 2016 OF THE OM&A PROGRAM TABLES AT JT1.20, APPENDIX 2JC, PAGE 17 OF EXHIBIT K1.5.


MR. VELLONE:  Just to make sure we have got it, that is to provide for the 2016 bridge year to the end of July 31st, 2016 an update to Appendix 2JC OM&A programs tables for those year-to-date last year amounts?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, just like this.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you need the labour and non-labour breakdown?

MR. SHEPHERD:  If it's possible that would be good.

MR. VELLONE:  Is it possible?

MS. COWLES:  It would be much quicker if we didn't have to do that analysis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not essential.

MS. COWLES:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now I would like to go employee costs, and that's page 18 of our materials.  So this is the current 2K, which was filed last week.  Right?  Can you confirm this is the most up-to-date information?

MS. COWLES:  Based on the K1.4 that was passed around today, the last rebasing year actual should be 39 FTEs, not -- or should be 40 FTEs, not 39 FTEs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right, but the dollars are correct.

MS. COWLES:  The dollars are correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so this -- and also in the 2017 test year, that 10 is actually 10.5 for management and that 34 is actually 31.2 plus 1.9 for co-op students and contract; is that right?

MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But, again, the dollar figures are fine?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me ask you this:  In the management line, does that include 50 percent of the CEO or 100 percent of the CEO?

MS. COWLES:  It's 50 percent of the CEO.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And does it then also include only part of all the people in finance who are billing out to InnServices?

MS. COWLES:  They are not included in these dollar amounts, they have been pulled out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you have people in finance that are just completely out of your totals because they are billed to InnServices?

MS. COWLES:  The dollar values for the different employees have been pulled out, and those people are not included in this FTE schedule either.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And how many people is that?

MS. COWLES:  One financial analyst, and another half to one body.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Okay, I am going to come back to that.

So out of your 34 that you had listed in -- as non-management employees, you actually have 33.1, but you really only have 31.2, and the rest are actually vacant positions right now; right?  You have three vacant positions right now?  I think you said this at the technical conference.

MS. COWLES:  We have one vacant union and non-union position, non-management position.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One non-management.  And how many vacant management positions do you have?

MS. COWLES:  Two.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so they are included in here, but they are not actually in here?  They are not actually working.

MS. COWLES:  We don't have people in those positions, but they are included in the FTE count.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they are included in the dollars?

MS. COWLES:  And they are included in the dollars.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would be about, what, 300,000, maybe?  Am I in the ballpark at least?

MS. COWLES:  High.

MR. SHEPHERD:  250?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.

And have some of those been hired but haven't started yet?

MR. MALCOLM:  Nobody has been hired yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is just a practical reality you are sitting here at the Ontario Energy Board asking for a rate increase and you can't afford them until you have the decision; right?  Is that -- am I overstating it, or is that...

MR. MALCOLM:  No, it's the competition in the marketplace for getting this skill set within our utility.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  All right.  So in your 2013 numbers -- I am going back to the 2K.  In your 2013 numbers, you have a hundred percent of your CEO, right?

MS. COWLES:  Sorry.  Could you restate that, Jay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the 2013 numbers here, a hundred percent of the CEO is included?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when we look at the comparison from 2013 to 2017, a big impact -- and I am not going to ask how many dollars, but a big impact is going to be the fact you are only including fifty percent of your CEO now, right?

MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then I am looking at the next page, page 19 of our materials, and this is -- and you talked about this earlier.  This is the capitalization figures.  So the capitalized labour has gone up from 558 to 818, so that $260,000 increase is included in these numbers on the previous page, right?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So from an OM&A point of view, it's actually -- there's actually 260,000 that is not driving your OM&A cost, even though your payroll is going up?

MS. COWLES:  I think this 2017 forecasted number is not -- it's not a number that can be relied on because the balancing between subcontract and capital was not -- that part of the budgeting was not done for 2017.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You said that earlier and I wondered about that, because why would you put in a forecast that you didn't think was accurate?

MS. COWLES:  Forecast numbers are accurate.  What happens is they put in a certain is amount for labour, and they break it down between subcontract labour and labour for capital projects.

Then we compare that to our zero based budgeting for payroll costs, and typically what is done is that amount is reduced and the capital -- the labour is reduced and the subcontract line is increased for any differential that we have.  Sometimes it's minimal; it might be 25, $30,000, but it's just an estimate to balance out our payroll budget.

This was not redone for this year following all these changes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is still from the custom IR?  This is the -- are these the estimates that are from the custom IR?

MS. COWLES:  Our understanding it was from the November.

MR. SHEPHERD:  From November, okay.  All right.  Then if you could look at page 22, we asked you at the technical conference, Mr. Malcolm, were there costs in your 2017 budget that you didn't actually expect to spend and your answer was yes.  And that was these vacancies, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.  The vacancies were not filled at the time of the technical conference, and today they are still not filled.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have an amount in your budget that you are not actually going to spend in 2017.

MR. MALCOLM:  We are still actively pursuing recruitment, but as of today, we do not have anybody in those positions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to move to a different subject, and that is InnServices.  And in order to do that, Madam Chair, I am going to be referring to a confidential document, and I think we should probably go in camera.

What we did in technical conference is we went in camera for the confidential document and I tried to be careful and, as a result, we didn't have to redact the transcript in the end.  And I will try to do that here, but I think we may be talking about at least couple of numbers.

MS. DUFF:   I’m just doing a survey of the room.  Ms. Khoo, have you signed the confidential agreement?

MS. KHOO:  I just have to submit it.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, it's happening before our eyes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fresh off the press.

MS. DUFF:  Everybody else in the room, there a part-time Board member in the second row.  I think you are covered, I think that's fine.  Do you have any objection to Ms. Velshi staying here?

MR. VELLONE:  Not at all.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, great.  I am going to go off air, then.
--- On commencing in camera at 2:09 p.m.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Malcolm, you the CEO of InnServices.  Can you tell us about the company first, just briefly?

MR. MALCOLM:  InnServices was formed in 2015 as a municipal service corporation that separated the water and waste water activities from the town of Innisfil into a municipal services corporation.  So what InnServices does is distribute and supply water and receives waste water for treatment purposes for the town of Innisfil.  We also supply water to the Bradford and West Gwillimbury.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it was a department of the town, and the town transferred all those assets into the company and the company operates now separately.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is similar to an LDC in that respect, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am right, am I not, that the assets are like -- there are sewer pipes and water treatment plants and all sorts of stuff like that, [redacted] worth, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.  We have a water treatment plant, we have a waste water treatment plant.  You have all the infrastructure as far as the pipes in the ground.  We also have metering assets associated with reading the meters.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what we have here is the 2016 financials.  InnServices doesn't have any other customers besides the town, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  And Bradford West Gwillimbury on the supply side of water.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did the town provide those before, or is this new for InnServices?

MR. MALCOLM:  They provided it before, it was an existing agreement between the two municipalities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So if you look at page 2 of the financial statements -- this is the 2016 financials, right.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Should we make this an exhibit?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good idea.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  This is confidential exhibit so it will be KX 1.1.
EXHIBIT no. KX1.1:  INNSERVICES CORP. 2016 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the company InnServices recovers money by charges must like your distribution charges, right, charges to homeowners for waste water services and water service?


MR. MALCOLM:  That’s correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Its revenue is [redacted], so its revenue is actually higher than yours, right, higher than the LDC.

MR. MALCOLM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And its assets, if you look at page 3, [redacted] are three times -- more than three times the rate base of the utility, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It also makes a profit of [redacted], and that's more than your profit, right?  Even your full profit with the deficiency covered is still less, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now this company has 27 employees, as I understand it; is that right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It does not have its own CFO.  The CFO is actually the CFO of the town who does that job as well, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  On an interim basis, the CFO of the town of Innisfil is the interim CFO for InnServices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Eventually you hope that will be a full executive team at InnServices.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it doesn't have its own CEO, it shares the CEO with the LDC, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The 27 employees, those are people who run the waste water facility and the water treatment plant, and maintain the pipes and all that sort of stuff?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But there is no back office, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  There are two administrative clerks for the water and the waste water division, and there's also an executive assistant for the president of InnServices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you have an EA in each place?

MR. MALCOLM:  I have an EA in one place.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So does that EA also look after InnPower?

MR. MALCOLM:  InnServices only.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So here's why I am interested in that.  It seems like InnServices corporation has the tool in hand people and a couple of others, but it doesn't have the full complement of people that you normally expect to run a company that has [redacted] of revenue.

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, there's no back office people.  When it was part of the town department, they utilized the back office from the town of Innisfil.  So we have an arrangement with the town of Innisfil for our back office that's still in place.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I thought the back office was IPC, the LDC did it.

MR. MALCOLM:  IPC does the water and wastewater billing and the financial portion of InnServices.  IT, human resources, purchasing is an agreement that we have with the town of Innisfil.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what about things like a call centre?  Who does the call centre?

MR. MALCOLM:  The call centre for water and wastewater billing would either come in through InnPower or through the customer service at the town of Innisfil, depending on which number the customer decides to call.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They are on your bill, so likely they are going to call you.

MR. MALCOLM:  It depends.  With the transfer of InnServices into a municipal service corporation, a lot of people still have the town of Innisfil in their mind and still have the town as their speed dial for InnServices issues.  So a number of issues that get to the town of Innisfil are related to the fact that they are using old numbers that they were accustomed to, not recognizing that InnPower is actually billing them.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But because you are doing the billing, in essence you want them to call your call centre, right?  That's the plan.

MR. MALCOLM:  The plan is for any billing inquiries or collection inquiries that they call InnPower.  For any other services that they require they call through the town of Innisfil.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What about collections?  When -- like, you're collecting the bill, right?  You have a collections department that goes out and collects.  We heard about that this morning.

MR. MALCOLM:  Through InnPower; that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's InnPower.  Okay.

Now, IT systems are the town?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And things like regulatory compliance and stuff like that, that's the town?

MR. MALCOLM:  No, we as InnServices have a regulatory coordinator that deals with the Ministry of Environment and Climate Change, so that's handled internal with InnServices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's one of these administrative clerks.

MR. MALCOLM:  That's one of the 27.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the 27, okay.  And things like insurance and stuff like that, that's all done at InnServices?

MR. MALCOLM:  Through the town.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Through the town; okay.

All right, so when the utility pays -- provides services to InnServices, it gets paid for it; right?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And if you go to page 17 of this financial statement, there are two items that appear to me to be -- that are related-party transactions.  One is the [redacted].  And the [redacted] is you, right, is IPC?  You see water, wastewater services billed?

MS. COWLES:  No, that is actually -- the first section on page 17 is actually services provided back and forth between InnServices and the town of Innisfil.  The following page is billing and financial services provided between InnPower and InnServices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they pay the town and they pay you for billing?

MS. COWLES:  No, that would be the water, wastewater that -- water, wastewater services that InnServices has billed the town for their different locations.  That's actually the town's water bills.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay, okay.

MS. COWLES:  We have to provide all inter-company transactions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So on the next page then you have the water, wastewater billing services.  That's you guys?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, that is InnPower billing InnServices for the water, wastewater services, so the [redacted].

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then the [redacted] is the financial services, which we are going the talk about in a second.

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which includes Mr. Malcolm.

MS. COWLES:  In 2016 it was just a portion of Mr. Malcolm, but, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, all right.  That's all I am going to refer to those, Madam Chair, so I don't think we are going to -- everything else is on the record.  So I think we are okay to go out of in camera.

MS. DUFF:  Before I go off camera, did anybody else have any questions regarding this exhibit?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Staff has no questions.

MS. DUFF:  Just for convenience.

MR. VELLONE:  My comment is that I think that piece of transcript will have to stay in camera.  There was specific numbers from the financials cited during the cross.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am hoping we can just redact the numbers.

MS. DUFF:  Yes.
--- On resuming in public at 2:19 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  All right.  We have gone back on air, Mr. Shepherd, if you want to continue with your cross.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

So I wonder if you could turn to page 28 of our materials, and this is your most recent Appendix 2N, which is your shared services and corporate cost allocation summary.  Do you see that?  Do you have that in front of you?  Somebody?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I want to go to the second page of that, which is on page 29, which is the 2017 numbers.  So if I understand correctly, you charge, you, InnPower, charge InnServices $245,000 a year for the billing service; right?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that costs 193,530.  That's what you are forecasting for this year.

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The financial services includes Mr. Malcolm; right?

MS. COWLES:  It should include Mr. Malcolm, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's -- 232,198 is what you charge, and the cost is 229,899; right?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, the InnServices agreement for financial services is to charge back the burdened labour plus a 1 percent admin fee.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you actually keep time dockets.

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And we are going to come to what's really happening in 2017, but that covers all of the back-office stuff that InnPower does for InnServices; right?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it -- I think what you said was it's two people plus Mr. Malcolm, who is also a person, but he is a management person.  It works out to be about two people plus the CEO.

MS. COWLES:  I think it's more one and a half to -- it's in between.  One-and-a-half people plus Mr. Malcolm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you will understand where I am going with this.  I am not going to ask Mr. Malcolm's salary and costs and everything, but it seems like there is not enough room for one-and-a-half people if half of Mr. Malcolm's compensation is in there.

MS. COWLES:  I would agree.  I would agree, there are higher costs this year than what we anticipated when we were budgeting the number, and that's seen through the July actuals.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, let's go to those then, because I did have some questions about that.

So the July actuals are on page 30 of our materials, and they show that your costs already for the financial services is, with the 1 percent, is 213,065, and you forecast for the year 229.  Clearly you are going to be over that; right?

MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, this one, it is reasonable to multiply by 12/7th (sic).  It's going to be roughly in that range; right?

MS. COWLES:  No, not necessarily.  The beginning of the year has all of our audit, and we perform the audit services for InnServices, so it wouldn't be -- it would be -- it would be heavily weighted toward the beginning of the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Okay, okay.  It's still low.

MS. COWLES:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And do you have a new forecast?

MS. COWLES:  No, I don't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If I said I thought it looked like about 360,000, do you think I am in the ballpark?  Not including HST.

MS. COWLES:  No, because you are extrapolating the seven months over twelve, and as I’ve stated, I believe it would be heavily weighted in the beginning of the year.  So it would be under 360,000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but above 230.

MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And does that mean that you are actually going to collect more from InnServices?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, we will collect more.  We will collect if there is a differential there of, say, 30,000, we will collect an additional $300 for the 1 percent admin fee.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In billing services, you don't have the same front-end load; that's basically a month to month sort of thing, right?  It's similar all through the year?

MR. BROWN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I did the 12/7th for that, and I got $245,000, again without HST because these numbers in 2N don't include HST, right?

MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So the $245,000 which would project the July 31st number is the same as what you are charging for it, but you said it's going to only cost you $193,000.  Well, clearly, that's not right, is it?  193 is not right?

MS. COWLES:  Sorry, I don't think I understand why you are coming to that conclusion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, because your costs for seven months are 142,620.  So unless your costs for the remaining five months are only going to be 50,000, which appears to be unlikely, then it's -- the 193 is understated.

MS. COWLES:  Sorry, I don't think that's the cost; that's the InnServices invoiced amount, the 142,620.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the column says cost.  Is that not right?

MS. COWLES:  It's the invoiced amount.  So the 142,620, if you multiply that -- divide that by seven and multiply it by 12, you end up with 244,000.  So that's the actual price for the service that we are invoicing InnServices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that column that says cost is actually price.

MS. COWLES:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, sorry.  And so that actually works out very nicely, except for one small thing.  For2017, your rate per bill is $2.40, right?

MR. BROWN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there’s 124,000 bills, roughly, waste water bills.

MR. BROWN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I did the math and I get 297,600.  So why is it 245,000?

MR. BROWN:  My apologies, that agreement is just underway.  So we’re still working on the old agreement that was with the town of Innisfil and it was $2 per bill.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so it's $2?

MR. BROWN:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the test year?

MR. BROWN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So on page 34 of our materials -- don't leave 29 for a second, but look at 34 where you said $2.33, that's not right for 2017, right?  That's right for 2018, but not 2017.

MR. BROWN:  That was based on actual 2016 costs when we did the analysis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you were only charging $2.

MR. BROWN:  That's correct.  This analysis was done for the new agreement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Back to page 30 for a second, I just have a couple of questions on that.

So this number for labour, you see the financial services labour?  That is actual compensation plus payroll burden, right?

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the payroll burden is 51.2 percent; we have that on the next page, page 31.

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's the same for everybody. It's not the same dollar figure, but it's the same percentage, right?

MS. COWLES:  It's the same percentage.  There is 
one -- there is a roving energy manager we share with CHEK that has a different burden rate.  Other than him, everyone else has the same burden.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I look at this and I’m thinking this is only payroll burden.  But all these employees, they have over things, too, right?  They have a desk, and they have a computer, and they have software, and they have all these things that you need to have to have an employee.  Effectively, you don't charge anything for that, right?

MS. COWLES:  When we added the additional analyst that is working primarily for InnServices, InnServices paid for outfitting her office, the computer, the laptop, all of that.  But other than that, the admin fee is expected to cover that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The admin fee is $3,000 a year.

MS. COWLES:  Yeah, it's not a lot.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That doesn't cover my computer.

MS. COWLES:  These employees would have those things regardless of whether we have InnServices or not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are costing this on an incremental basis.

MS. COWLES:  I am following how the financial services agreement was written.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That’s not responsive.  You are costing it on an incremental basis, yes or no?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, it's incremental.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am used to seeing if you charge out the third parties that are arm's length third parties, not you but the companies charge out, they add another 25 or 35 percent, something in that range for overheads, an overhead burden.  In fact, often the job costing mechanism has it expressly in there.  You don’t have anything like that, right?  Your one percent is supposed to cover that.

MS. COWLES:  We do not add a burden to what we charge.  Except for the employee burden, we do not add additional burden or mark-up to what’s invoiced to them, besides the one percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So all the costs associated with looking after an employee -- like HR for example, and stuff like that -- that you look after these employees and you outfit them and everything like, that those costs -- InnServices is getting a free ride on those?  It's not paying anything for those?

MS. COWLES:  No, they are not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If they had to employ their own people, they would have to pay those things?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, they would have to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me just ask a couple of quick things on this page, page 30 again. Rental, what's rental?

MS. COWLES:  We rent cubicle space and office space to InnServices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So occupancy charges and rental, occupancy charges is not space?

MS. COWLES:  No, occupancy charges is waste water billing.

MR. BROWN:  That's the administration fee collected by InnPower for change of occupancy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they don't have their own separate offices, right?  InnServices doesn't have their own separate office?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, they do.  The employees are at the water treatment plant and the waste water treatment plant; we have offices there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where is your EA?

MR. MALCOLM:  At InnPower, and she is part of the rental.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your EA has an office?

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And these employees, these couple of employees that work in financial services that do this, they have offices or cubicles, or something like that?

MR. MALCOLM:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the total amount that is charged for that is $14,000, right?  Well, for seven months, so $20,000.

MS. COWLES:  No, it's $5,000 for seven months.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, sorry, that's right because the 8200 is not space.

MS. COWLES:  Correct, so it's about $9,000 for year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And is there like a lease of some sort, or is it just …

MS. COWLES:  We use the rates that we were billing outside parties.  So we had locator that we had been renting an office to, and we used the same rates when we were determining what we were billing InnServices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now, you say in the paragraph below, you say that you rent garage space to somebody.  Who do you rent garage space to?  Is it a third party or the town?  Or who is it?

MR. MALCOLM:  It’s a third party line contracting company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, okay.  But that's not in this budget anywhere because that's nothing to do with InnServices, right?

MR. MALCOLM:  It has nothing to do with InnServices.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So I want to just quickly move on to page 34 of our materials.  And this is Undertaking JT2.3, and it has your actual cost per bill for that year.  Is that right?

MR. BROWN:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you also have call centre and collection costs that aren't included in this, right?

MR. BROWN:  They are included in the cost.  As I had stated in the technical conference, the staff put time to time spent for water and wastewater.  So in that -- billing labour, it's -- the terminology may not be the best, but in that billing labour that is what staff put time to.  So when they are doing billing, collecting, any kind of -- and it's not -- you know, you can't split hairs, but they do their best guesstimates on trying to record time for water and wastewater services.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if you can go back to page 15 of our materials.  So your budget for the test year in InnPower for customer service and billings and customer collections -- leave aside bad debts -- is almost $1.1 million; right?  You see that, 703 plus 369.

MR. BROWN:  Yeah, I see that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So now come back to page 34, and I am looking at the costs of the bills.  It doesn't seem to add up to $1.1 million.

MR. BROWN:  In this analysis we do not put collections in, because that is something that we do for electric only.  That includes a lot of the bad debt expenses, which doesn't get incurred with water and wastewater.

So in the undertaking my understanding was, how much does it cost to issue an electric bill, I believe it was, so that's the cost of issuing electric bill, but from a collection perspective those costs aren't -- all we do from the InnPower side is collect the money and remit to InnService.  There's no collection, there's no knocking on the door.  It's tax rolled if the customers don't pay it, so there's no debt, bad debts, so we took all those costs out in our calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I understand there's no bad debts, but you still try to collect the bill; right?  Most of the bills are combined bills.

MR. BROWN:  That's correct, yes, so when people make cash payments our staff put time to collecting those cash payments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And those customer collections, you have a budget of $369,000 in 2017, but you're charging InnServices zero; is that right?

MR. BROWN:  I did not include the collection costs, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- and I understand why you did that, but I am trying to figure out how the $2 per bill recovers your costs.  And if you have a million-one in costs in total, that $2 per bill is $290,000 -- no, it's not, it's actually $245,000.  So they're issuing almost as many bills as you.  Not as many, but almost as many.  Most of them are piggybacked on your bill, but they are paying less than a quarter of the cost; does that sound fair?

MR. BROWN:  In our analysis we took the cost of water and wastewater charges, actuals, so the meter reading and all of the associated back-office costs, and then we calculated what that cost was per bill, then we took the electric side and calculated what that cost was per bill.

Our calculations show that when you share the bill 50 percent, the cost is $2.33.  The $2.40 in the new negotiated agreement covers that cost.  However, if you look at the cost per bill, electric only, it's $3.32, so when you take that share off down to 233, you are now realizing about a dollar per bill for InnPower Corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Nobody disagrees that there's savings to the electric customers from sharing the bill.  The question is whether the savings to the electric customer is fair relative to the savings to the water customer, and it looks to me like the water customer's getting a great deal here, because they are only paying essentially incremental costs; isn't that right?

MR. BROWN:  We looked at it like a 50 percent share.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it doesn't include collections, it doesn't include customer care, none of that stuff.  Those are true costs --


MR. BROWN:  It does include customer care.  That labour component is customer care.  So our staff put time sheets in for billing, labour, front end -- front counter labour, cash collection labour, all that labour component is what we are collecting for water and wastewater.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And somehow --


MR. BROWN:  And the meter-reading costs, so we have tallied that up for the number of bills.  We come with $1.33.  Collections is a completely different perspective when it comes between the two utilities, and I am sure you are aware of that.  Electric, we are allowed to deliver disconnection notices.  There is a whole bunch of costs involved, a lot of staff time involved in answering these calls.

Water and wastewater, all we are doing is collecting money and remitting to the town.  That's all we are doing.  And with staff, they take calls and they mark their time down as the best ability that they can.

So year over year this could change, but this is the best information that we have at this time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Most of your bills are joint bills, right?

MR. BROWN:  Well, we are about 10,000 water and we're approaching 17,000 electric now.  So --


MR. SMITH:  So most of them are jointly --


MR. BROWN:  Yeah, there are still a lot of areas in the town that do not have water and wastewater services, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The reason why I ask that is because it sounds to me like when you collect a bill, you collect the bill, right?  The customer pays the bill, and if it has both on it, both get collected, but only the electric customers are paying for that collection cost; isn't that right?  Most of the time.

MR. BROWN:  Well, so if you break down the cost, the APH itself, there's a lot more involved in there than just labour, yes.  There's a lot more costs involved than just labour in collections, so you have bad debt expenses, so they are all tallied into that one, so, yes, it would be fair to say you are -- there is some collection costs.  That's the avenue we use, is to record the time by staff and allocate it accordingly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I noticed here that supervisory and CIS costs are not shared with the water company.

MR. BROWN:  Yeah, that time is as well, but there is very little from the supervisory, from the billing side.  Our staff look after all of the billing side, and to Mr. Malcolm's point, they do have back-office staff, so at the water, wastewater, and the water treatment plants they have staff there to address any customers' concerns, so we do a water, wastewater billing service per se, but if they have a complaint about the service work or anything outside of the normal water and wastewater they get transferred to InnServices staff.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am sort of getting towards the end, Madam Chair.  I have maybe ten minutes to go, so it should be serendipitous.

MS. DUFF:  The witnesses are okay staying for another ten minutes before we take a break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I just want to ask you --


MS. DUFF:  And the court reporter, sorry.  I just want to make sure everyone's fine to stay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I just have a couple of follow-ups here.  And so I am going to take you to -- take you back to page 29.  By the way, when Mr. Malcolm is charged to InnServices, does it include the 51.2 percent payroll markup?  I can't hear you.

MS. COWLES:  Yes, it does.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But no overheads.

MS. COWLES:  No overheads.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so we have agreed that this number for financial services in 2017, 232,198, is probably low; right?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, I agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you going to do a new estimate?

MS. COWLES:  I can do a new estimate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it a lot of work?

MS. COWLES:  It will change a number of the models to change this number at this point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True, although a lot of the models are going to get changed along the way anyway.

MS. COWLES:  Yes, they will.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I don't need you to file all the new models.

MS. COWLES:  Just this --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which, although that would be fun, but, no.  But if you could just redo 2N with a new number or even just give an undertaking saying what you think the new number should be, what you think it should be, that would be useful.

MS. COWLES:  Yes, I can.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking J1.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.6:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATE TO 2N.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I wanted to ask you about, you understand your OM&A in -- I don't have this in my materials -- in 2016; right?  Relative to your budget.

MS. COWLES:  Are you able to point us to the evidence on that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I should have put it in there.  My bad.  I have page 136 of the transcript for the first day of the technical conference.  You are asked -- Board Staff asked you the bridge year OM&A actuals of 5688 million were actually lower than the OM&A forecast of 5835.  And Ms. Cowles says, "Our actuals for 2016 are largely underspent because of vacancies we had throughout the year."


MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's right, you underspent by 170,000 or something last year.

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And right now you are on track -- because of the same reason, vacancies, you are on track to underspend this year too, right?

MS. COWLES:  When we looked at the trended budget, it looked like we were going to come in at the 5.9.  I anticipate that we do have some vacancies in there.  We’ve had actually some people that have temporarily filled in those for those vacancies, and we’ve had increased cost because we had someone in our subcontract team step into one of the positions.  We’ve had a number of overtime hours and contracts filling in, just short term throughout the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Madam Chair, I think that's it for me.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much, Mr. Shepherd.  Let's take our afternoon break for 15 minutes.  Is there anything before we break, Mr. Vellone?

Okay, so at five after three we will resume with Ms. Djurdjevic.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:47 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:08 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Good afternoon.  We are looking at the schedule today.  Board Staff had an estimate of 45 minutes.  Are you going to keep to that?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thereabouts...


[Microphone not activated]

Cross-Examination by Ms. Djurdjevic:


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, my intention is to finish by 4:15 at latest and leave some time for the Panel if they have any follow-up questions.

So I am going the start with a few questions and then my colleague, Mr. Murray, is going to pose a couple questions dealing with the load forecast issue only, and then from OEB Staff Ms. Raj Sabharwal is going to ask a couple questions on very specific technical accounting matters just to clarify the record.

And we do not have a compendium.  We will be referring to a few documents that are on the record and that we have given applicant's counsel, references when they will pull up on the screen for us, so...

So my first question, and I am not referring to any document, but we did hear Mr. Shepherd cover this in some of his examination, that after the community meetings, InnPower filed -- made an amended filing in May and indicated that they had attended the meetings and reviewed the comments and feedback, and responses to those comments were filed recently after the technical conference, and the main issues that the customers expressed, which had already been discussed; namely, the costs and size of the new building, the requested Z factor related to the major storm damage, and the general increase in rates and some retroactive 2007 rates.

So my question is whether there were any other issues raised -- well, my first question is, were there any letters of comment received after the community meetings that -- other than the letters that we got at the OEB, so if there were any letters that were sent directly to InnPower that the OEB has not received yet, we would like to know if you have received anything like that?

MR. BROWN:  Not to my understanding, no.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And other than those issues that were discussed as being sort of the major concerns that consumers had, were there any others that maybe we didn't mention or that was significant in the utility's view?

MR. BROWN:  No, I think you have summed up most of the customer's concerns.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So my next question is about the other revenue related to lease income, and again, we have heard some of that already today.  And I guess my question is if -- the building was built, as we understand it, with the expectation the utility would grow and you would need additional staff, which is not the case now, so leasing it out makes sense.

Now, my question is, if eventually your staffing needs do expand into that space, and at that point would InnPower seek to have that added to rate base?  That 2.3 million that is currently excluded?

MR. MALCOLM:  At that time, whatever the value is, we would be seeking to recover that, but also showing the cost at the time, so the depreciated value would be taken into consideration.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And are you aware of any precedent or given some thought to the reasonableness of an asset
that -- such as this part of the building that the company is going to use and lease out, and if you have your way you will keep the proceeds of the lease income, and then to have that asset or part of that asset added to rate base so that ratepayers will eventually be paying for it but not have had the benefit of any of the income that the utility generated before that?  It's hypothetical, but I am just wondering if anybody's given this some thought in the event that this issue does come around again.

MR. MALCOLM:  The way that InnPower is approaching it is as if that two-storey section of our administration building does not exist today.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  My question was if in a few years you increase your staff and you need that space and you have indicated that then you will be seeking to add the depreciated value to rate base, my question is, what about the -- all the lease income that the company would have made before that and that's not being shared with ratepayers, or would you consider giving ratepayers some credit for that?

MR. MALCOLM:  Based on our current configuration of our service centre I don't expect us to have any use of that space for the next ten years, so at that time we would have to evaluate as to what the depreciated value is and what sort of income did we obtain from that side of the building.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, the next couple questions are just to clarify some inconsistencies in the evidence that's been filed so that we have a clear understanding of which numbers the utility would like the Board to consider in its application.

So the first amount is a difference of 2.31 million, and we see first of all in Undertaking JT1.2 -- and if we can get that up on screen, or we have it elsewhere too.

So in -- so here we have the -- so I am looking -- it's 2015.  It's the total 2015 for capital expenditures, 17,578,000, and in other documents, such as the filing requirement that -- so that came in September 20th.  This is the Chapter 2 appendices, so filing requirements, Chapter 2 appendices, Appendix 2AB.  We can pull it up or not.  I mean, it says what it says.  The amount is 15.26 million.

So it seems to be, you know, this difference of 2.3, and we believe from the technical conference and discussions that it's related to the cost of the new building, seems that originally there was an intent to claim that 2.3 million that was not allowed or agreed to in the settlement in 2015.

But I just wanted to make clear that it is the 15.26 figure that is the amount of the capital expenditures that is being claimed.

MR. BACON:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So the next figure was also OM&A, and it is smaller, it's 67,000.  And again, going back to JT1.2, and here the amount is 2.24 million.  This is in the system O&M '17/'18, going forward.

And when we look at the filing requirements -- and this is in the summary of OM&A, and there we have the amount of 2.17 million.

So again, $67,000, but we still do not have an explanation as to the cause of this discrepancy.

MR. VELLONE:  Where are you looking in the filing requirements, just so we can track --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  It's line 36.

MR. VELLONE:  Well, which tab?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Cell number.  Sorry, it's -- it is tab -- summary of OM&A.  Do we have that?  It's 32 -- no, Appendix 2JA.  [microphone not activated] Number 7,

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  [microphone not activated] and then it's cell (inaudible)


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I can’t read it, but we’ve got it in front of us.  So there we have, in 2017, 2.179 million.  So again, you know, a $67,000 difference for two items.  We would just like to know which is the correct amount that the applicant wants the Board to consider.

MR. VELLONE:  I wonder if this is better directed at panel 2.  The witnesses identified to the undertaking response are the two witnesses that are not part of this panel, so I am just asking my witnesses whether you can speak to this.

MS. DUFF:  Sorry, I didn't mean to laugh, but I can see your witnesses going --


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Counsel, if you think panel 2 is better able to deal with this --


MR. VELLONE:  I am asking.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, okay, thank you.

MR. BACON:  The 2179 in appendix 2AB is the correct number.  It's consistent with the appendix 2JC appendix are where the total is 5990356 OM&A.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, thank you for clarifying.  My next question is about commodity values, and if we could pull up the revenue requirement work form filed September 20th, and I am looking at tab 4, rate base, and it's line 7.

Well, first of all, because we can't tell from the evidence, but first of all, whether the new commodity prices have been included in your filing.  So first of all, I just want to make sure the witness is aware there is a new commodity price effective July 1, 2017, which is lower than previous prices.

MR. BACON:  We believe -- it's our understanding we didn't update it.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry, you did not?

MR. BACON:  We did not.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So looking at line 7 here, cost of power, that needs to be updated for the new price?

MR. BACON:  Yes, that would have to be updated for the new pricing information from the latest RPP report.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay, I will give that undertaking and we will make it J1.7.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.7:  TO UPDATE THE COST OF POWER IN THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT WORK FORM FILED SEPTEMBER 20TH, TAB 4, RATE BASE, LINE 7


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Just for my clarity, are we rerunning the entire model as a result of this undertaking?

MS. DUFF:  That's what I was thinking.  Is it just the cost of power that you want them to update?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, yes, and to the extent that it creates any changes that are, you know, going to have an impact, then we need to know about that and take that into account.

MS. DUFF:  For now, why don't you just provide the new updated cost of power.  I mean, there are many items on this page that will change.

MR. VELLONE:  Perhaps the impact on working capital.

MS. DUFF:  As defined there, yes, sorry.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Bacon?

MR. BACON:  So what we are saying is we just want to update the cost of capital calculation, basically, cost of power.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, and to the Chair's point, maybe with respect to the impact on the test year working capital.

MR. BACON:  Okay.  Yes, we can do that.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Are you able to provide a detailed calculation?

MR. BACON:  As much as you are looking at right now.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  I am also just informed that there is a document that is associated with this that staff would need to have filed and it's the -- well, it's an update to the IR response on specific service charges and it's pages 1356 and 57.

So the amount there would be affected, so that needs to be updated or just give an undertaking that what it needs to be --


MR. BACON:  I am a little confused where we are.

MR. VELLONE:  So we are at page 1356 of the IR response.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  The document is InnPower IRR responses.

MR. BACON:  So is this the table you would like updated?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, I have to put on the record -- all right.  So yes, it is the document which we all have on the screen now, which is titled IRR AB-2016-0085, 2017-0804 renamed.PDF.

MS. DUFF:  We have having the split of the RPP and the non-RRP and this entire updates?

MR. BACON:  If I can helpful, do you just want this sheet updated?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.

MR. BACON:  We can do that.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes, and the prior page.  So it's pages 1356 and 1357.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  So my next question is about the -- we have had some discussion about this already, so I won't repeat it all, about the rate of the increase in the OM&A which is approximately 22.3 percent higher than the 2013 OEB-approved balance.

We have had some calculations, but it is sort of 4 to a 4-and-a-half percent increase per year.  And as you should know, the OEB-approved inflation rate is approximately 1.9 percent per year.

So can you explain why the OEB should approve your increases of over 4 percent per year which are significantly higher than the OEB-approved amount for inflation of 1.9 percent?

MS. COWLES:  I think throughout the evidence, we have provided a number of reasons why our OM&A is higher than the Board-approved inflationary rate.

We’ve got a history of being behind on maintenance of the system and with the growth, we have to -- we have got all these factors that are contributing to our increased OM&A.  That increase is required in order for us to maintain our system for system access and system service, to maintain our reliability and to maintain the customer service that we are providing.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay let's just focus just a bit on the employment and labour costs, and we are looking at filing requirements, Chapter 2 appendices, Appendix 2JA.  And so, again, we are looking at here the OM&A for the 2007 (sic) test year increasing by over $1 million from the 2013 OEB-approved and 60 percent of that or over 660,000 being related to administrative expenses.

Would you agree that the primary driver -- and, well, it's not a trick question.  It's in your May 8th amended filing -- the primary driver of this increase is related to new full-time employees that you have included in the management admin finance regulatory IT category?

MS. COWLES:  A large part of that is for the additional FTEs that were hired, but there is also a component when we moved to the new building, prior to being in the new administrative building we were in three separate non-contiguous buildings.  They each had their own metres for different utility costs, and we separated those based on -- we separated a lot of those costs based on engineering, customer service, or administration.


Now that we are all in one building, and there is one meter and one bill coming in for the building, a lot of those costs have come from their separate buckets and come into the administrative and general category, and that explains some of the jump.  If you look from the 2014 actuals to the 2015 actuals, where the admin and general went up 2.2 to 2.6 million, some of that is because of the costs that were taken out of the others and moved down into that line item.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Okay.  Well, it still would appear that the major contributor or driver of this cost is the FTEs.  So 230,788, that's what I would like you to look at.  And so I don't think there is dispute, but you agree that that is a significant driver of the admin cost.

MS. COWLES:  Yes.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yeah, and we had asked at the technical conference whether InnPower would be able to function with the 41 full-time equivalent employees that it has instead of the 44 that it is seeking, and I understand at the technical conference the response was that that was not acceptable, and we are wondering whether you have considered any options to fulfil your operational needs but not increase -- not hire the additional full-time employees.

MS. COWLES:  So these aren't additional employees, these are existing vacancies, and they're integral, they are supervisory.  One of them is a supervisory position to our line crew.  No, we have got stress leaves, we have got banked time, we have got pressures, we've had people that have come in to fill those vacancies and leave because of the burden of the position.  So these -- these positions have to be filled.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And if I understood you correctly, the main positions are an operations manager and a supervisor.  I guess those are two of the three positions that are essential to continuing, if we heard you correctly.

MS. COWLES:  So it was an operations manager position, and we are trying to replace it with two supervisory positions.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And one of those supervisory -- an existing supervisor who would be taking on extra work, or is it two new supervisors?

MS. COWLES:  Two new.  There is no one in those roles currently.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And the transcript, we had some discussions about where, you know, you indicated that the company was considering sort of a reorganization.  Was it just about hiring two supervisors instead of an operations manager, or is there additional reorganization that you are considering?

MR. MALCOLM:  There is additional reorganization to work the two teams, the engineering and the operations groups, better aligned together.  So we are looking at the structure of a solely engineering group versus a solely operational group, and we are introducing an engineering and operational work team that handles both engineering and operational issues at the same time so that the customer is not dealing with two different parties, they are dealing with the exact same party for their issues that they were concerned about.

And the third position is in the operations engineer.  That's critical to our automation system and our communication systems.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So, you know, thinking about this reorganization, has there been some thought on how that impacts the number of employees you need, what roles you need them to fill, and what the costs are?  So, for example, you're, you know, going to pass on hiring an operations manager and instead hire two supervisors.  You know, to me would seem simply the cost would be greater, but I would like to hear it from the company.


You know, since we are talking about reorganizing, trying to figure out how to work more efficiently, what kind of positions have you decided are necessary and what kind of costs compared to what you were originally contemplating?

MR. MALCOLM:  The operations engineer was also a supervisory position that we will not have as an operations supervisory position.  And we are also looking at what do we need as far as technical expertise in regards to the engineering side.  So do we take one of our existing techs from the engineering side and move them over to the operational side that can do and start the dual process of getting us to a dual engineering/operations work team.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  What is the cost difference between hiring one operations manager and two supervisors?  Now, I just want to get --


MR. MALCOLM:  It would be about 50,000.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sorry?

MR. MALCOLM:  50,000.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  50,000.  What I am trying to get at is because we have this amount, which is 230,000, for these three positions, and, you know, there was discussion about a reorganization, and you are talking about moving people from one position or, you know, trying to work teams together, and just trying to see if, you know, that translates into some kind of dollar amounts that we can look at and, you know -- or whether -- you know, what the final bottom line is for the company, that dollar amount and those three positions, or are there any options?

MR. MALCOLM:  The only options is to look at contracted services to replace positions that are currently needed.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And has that been explored in terms of costs?

MR. MALCOLM:  We are in the process of exploring those options today.  Due to the fact that we are faced with hiring individuals that are in a very highly competitive marketplace, we still need to get the work done, so we are looking at what other alternatives do we have in replacing these people with contracted services.  The only issue with contracted services is that the price tag is a lot higher than having your own staff.  And also, you lose that expertise in-house because now you are relying on people outside of your organization to do the work for you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So if you went down that road it would be more than the 230,000 that you are seeking for the three FTEs.

MR. MALCOLM:  If we ended up that we have to go to a contracted services, yes, the rate will have to go up higher because the rates that consultants charge are a lot higher than your internal rates.  So what we are trying to do is balance our needs as an organization, and as I mentioned at the technical conference in regards to an efficiency committee within our organization, our staff are looking at the various roles and responsibilities of each team member and determining how we can do things a little differently and effectively so that we can make these transitional changes without causing a huge increase in labour component costs.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So looking at, you know, the balance of 2017 and what you need to get done, the relatively low likelihood that you would fill these positions before 2017, are you telling us that you will need to go out and hire these contract employees, like, next week or next month, and are there some costs that are going to be associated with this that need to be taken into account?

MR. MALCOLM:  As I mentioned, we are investigating those options currently, so I don't have an idea as to the actual cost that it would be.  But we are talking to a variety of consulting engineering firms to see what capacity they have.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So my last couple of questions are about the distribution rate project, the Fair Hydro Plan. First of all, I can confirm that InnPower is one of the eight named utilities under that project, which is -- that you are affected.  And do you know why you have been designated as one of the eight?

Well, let me put it this way.  Is it not because you are one of the companies with the top based distribution rates?

MS. PINKE:  We were one of the top eight.  The top eight were selected to be within the DRP.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And this is because of your high cost and also remote or rural presence, I guess -- not remote; rural.

MS. PINKE:  Well, we are not that remote, but we are rural in terms of density.  It was because of our high fixed rate and our high variable rate.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Now, as you know, the distribution rate project, your distribution rates are capped.  So I am wondering how, in response to your customers concerns about the province expects you to treat them a certain way and give them certain reductions, and you are seeking increases and how those two pieces fit together.  So how are you going to incorporate that into what the ultimate rate is and when customers inquire, what you ultimately did?

MS. PINKE:  Can I clarify that, please, or did you want to speak to it?

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Sure, sure.

MS. PINKE:  I think there is two questions that I am hearing that you want clarification on.  One is the communication piece because I really don't know of a methodology to build a DRP into our application process.  Our application was filed way before the DRP came to light and way before the Ontario Fair Hydro Plan.  In fact, I mean unfortunately it was like a two-week timing from hearing about the Ontario Fair Hydro Plan and the DRP and our community day.  And the first phone call that we made was to the Ministry to try and understand what we could communicate to customers at the community day about what was happening.

And basically, we were given -- I am going to say highlights, but we were not given specifics that we could talk to.  And, you know, we were -- I am going to say it came across that we did not present ourselves well with these topics, but we didn't have the information.

But the customers have continued coming forward with the DRP.  It has been very successfully implemented within InnPower, both the May implementation and the July implementation.  Shannon can attest to this.  We have done all our audits to ensure that is in place.

The biggest issue that we are having right now is that customers are calling saying how can I tell if I have my 25 percent reduction on my bill?  You know, these are customers that aren't even -- that qualify for the DRP.  So, we have some teams that have created basically an Excel spreadsheet that gives rates that were before May and then July, and here is the 25 percent, and do you recognize that it's also based on a, you know, a Toronto average.

So it's a lot of information to provide to a customer and we recognize that trying to take in all the bill changes to say you saved 25 percent in this area, it would not have been implemented in a May or a July time frame.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Are there any efforts or anything that can be done to communicate to customers -- I mean, after the proceeding concludes and you new rates -- to help them understand where the increases are coming from and how that fits in with what they have been expecting from the provincial government?

MR. BROWN:  Absolutely.  I can speak to that. So we have a newsletter that’s going out in the next round of bills.  As well, we are updating or website and we are hoping to have an interactive tool to allow customers to login, put in their consumption in the buckets, and be able to determine whether DRP was effective -- or in place, sorry, as well as what kind of savings.

So we have this calculator that says okay, here’s the rates back here in 2016 without Fair Hydro Plan, here's the rates now.

The difficulty with the distribution rate protection program is that it's based on a fixed and variable at this time.  It's difficult to tell customers that if you are 833 kilowatt hours in a month, everything over that the DRP actually takes effect, but underneath that it does not.  So that is what we are now, a communication with customers to help them understand that Fair Hydro Plan is separate from the distribution rate protection in that the 25 percent belongs to the Fair Hydro Plan initiatives and the DRP is additional.

It is on our website.  It’s difficult to -- like, for us in the industry, we get it every day.  But for our consumers, it's very difficult.  So we are working on a strategic plan to educate our customers right now.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you, panel, those were my questions.  I will turn it over now to Raj, so Ms. Sabharwal has a couple questions on accounts.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Sabharwal:


MS. SABHARWAL:  I am going to go over account 1588 and 1589 if you can bring up the 2017 continuity schedule, cost of service, version 27 TDC.  Do we need that up, Fiona?

MR. VELLONE:  What tab?

MS. SABHARWAL:  It's continuity schedule, so I think it's tab 2.  So under 2015, tab 2 -- under 2015, so you have to go back a little bit, scroll back.

So there is an adjustment under 2015, there is an adjustment of 148,000 under 2015.  Yes, a credit adjustment under principal adjustments during 2015, and 148,378.  So the OEB issued guidance on disposition of account 1588 and 1589 in May 2017, and this guidance required the distributors to reflect the trued-up claims with the IESO with respect to RPP settlements in account balances requested for disposition.  So this is what you have shown for your true-up claim related amount there.

So if you could refer now to another exhibit, which you provide as backup for this amount, which was Exhibit JT1.28, KT1.6 2015 reconciliation worksheet -- you will have to find the reconciliation worksheet, it's in Excel, an Excel document.  Yes, that's the one.

So if you scroll over to the right and under E, under column E, the total amount that was charged to 142 was a credit of 409,495.  So for the year, InnPower claimed that amount from the IESO, so this would have had the impact of reducing the cost of power in account 1588.  And you have determined, based on under C12 that this amount should have been 255,576.  So the difference you put in account, in that adjustment, that's the 148.


The issue is that it looks like you reversed the sign.  I think it should be a debit, because 409,495 would have an impact of reducing the cost, but you wanted the cost reduced by only 255,576, so this should have been -- so directionally it's going the wrong way, in my opinion.

MR. BROWN:  So I look after the filings, the 1598 filings monthly with IESO, and my portion of this is to make whole with the market with the pricing.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Right.

MR. BROWN:  Not the global adjustment piece of it, just the market.  So in this worksheet the wholesale is 18,471, but we are only collecting 18,216.  So RPP collected, so the SSSRPP charged is what we are collecting from customers.  We are collecting 18,216, so it's a shortfall of 18,471.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Right.

MR. BROWN:  Correct?

MS. SABHARWAL:  Yes.

MR. BROWN:  So we are not collecting enough from our customers to pay the market pricing with weighted average price and global adjustment combined.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Yeah, but you made a claim of 409,495.

MR. BROWN:  That was the monthly filings.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Right.  So if the amount there, 255,576, is the difference that you should have claimed, but you claimed more, that would have an impact of reducing your commodity cost in that account.  Now, you want to bring it back up to the level to make it equal, those two numbers equal, so that 1,588 is zero, in terms of you -- the RPP price is equal to commodity plus global adjustment for RPP.

MR. BROWN:  Could I ask just to scroll down just to see the bottom, please.  Right.  So we paid $148,000.

MS. SABHARWAL:  So it should be a debit.  Your cost goes up, commodity cost goes up.  So it should be a debit.  Okay.  So that is...

So the next one, we will need --


MS. DUFF:  Just to -- I think he needs to either agree or disagree with that.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Sorry.

MS. DUFF:  So the 148,378, you don't have a problem with that dollar amount.  You are just saying the sign?

MS. SABHARWAL:  Yeah, but it will have an impact on the balance.

MS. DUFF:  True enough.  But it's the -- perhaps, rather than doing this right now, unless you can answer off the top of your head, do you want to look at this a little bit more?  I mean, this is a new worksheet too, right?  This work form.  Is it not, this one?

MR. BROWN:  This work form is our own in-house work form --


MS. DUFF:  Oh, okay.

MR. BROWN:  Yes, this is what InnPower uses --


MS. DUFF:  I just -- this.

MR. BROWN:  InnPower designed this --


MS. DUFF:  Okay.

MR. BROWN:  -- so we track monthly, file our 1,598, and then quarterly we reconcile with actual data, so in this case at the end of the year we paid back $148,000 to IESO, which would then appear on the invoice against Charge Co. 142, now 1,142, correct, with the Fair Hydro Plan in place, so I am sorry I can't speak to the financial accounting side of it, but it would have hit the invoice according to paying IESO.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Right.  That is going to be a debit.  Do you agree it is going to be a debit, because you are increasing the -- you are paying them the money, you are paying more money, so that means your cost goes up, so that is a debit in your costs.

MR. BROWN:  Well, we over-collected.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Yeah, that is why it was --


MR. BROWN:  Right.  So that's why we paid it --


MS. SABHARWAL:  -- it was a credit, and you want to now reverse that, and it's going to be a debit now.

MR. VELLONE:  Perhaps Mr. Brown and Ms. Cowles can convene offline and deal with this via in an undertaking as to whether --


MS. DUFF:  And miss this?  Are you kidding me?  No, I want a front-row seat.  I think -- yes, I think this is an important -- it's definitely material, but if this could be handled offline, perhaps.  I think we all -- I think I understand the issue and I am comfortable with you having that discussion offline.  Is that satisfactory to you?

MR. BROWN:  Yes, it is.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you.  And if there is any change to the evidence -- yeah, I mean, I would just say I think you need an undertaking, as Ms. Anderson was saying, to let us know that it is staying the same or if there is to be a change in the sign, okay?  If you could do that, just to either confirm your evidence or not, because I won't be part of that discussion.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be Undertaking J1.8.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.8:  TO CLARIFY FIGURES IN THE WORKSHEET.

MS. DUFF:  Any more questions?

MS. SABHARWAL:  Yes.  And then the next one is about 1,589.  So this is Exhibit JT1.28, KT1.6, updated 2015 GA reasonability test.  So that's the one.

So the OEB has -- so you have -- I want to see where the 3.8 was calculated, 3.8 percent difference.  Go down a little bit, I think.  It's, yes, just below the 597 number there, just a little bit lower, yeah, there.

So the OEB has an accepted variance from expected balance that we would calculate through this GA analysis of 1 percent of your total GA costs that you paid to the IESO, but yours was a lot higher, 3.8 percent, and it was not explained.  So I have some questions on this.

So this work form is designed to calculate an approximate expected balance in account 1599, and then compare the expected amount to the amount in the GL, in your GL, that you are proposing for disposition.  Material differences between the two need to be reconciled and explained.  Materiality is assessed on an annual basis based on a threshold of plus or minus 1 percent of the annual IESO GA charges.

So InnPower's global adjustment analysis work form indicates significant unexplained difference of 3.8 percent, which is substantially higher than the threshold of 1 percent.  In absolute dollar terms the expected balance in account should be approximately 103,138, which you have calculated on the previous page.  And -- but your balance is 323,883.

And on -- in the -- under additional notes and comments section of this GA analysis work form, if you could go down a bit, yeah, here, you said that:
"The unresolved difference can be partially attributed to the way in which InnPower calculates and records the breakdown of RPP versus non-RPPGA."

And then also you said:
"At present InnPower does not take the final GA calculation as calculated by the IESO to true up the allocation of the allocated dollar value of class B global adjustment.  This is something which InnPower will be undertaking on a go-forward basis."

So based on this statement, it appears that the GA proration between RPP and non-RPP is not trued up for actual proportions between RPP and non-RPP consumption; is that true?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, the reconciliation has always been done on the RPP side, but we have never done a reconciliation or an audit of what the non-RPP GA should be.  So by default, there may -- it looks like there is a misallocation between the 1588 and 1589.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay.  Can you describe how you determined the initial ratio that's used to allocate GA between RPP and non-RPP when you initially record amounts in 1588 and 89?

MR. BROWN:  To the best of my ability, finance staff take the filings we do on the work forms that we do for our monthly filings, and they take the non-RPP portion that we are calculating in our monthly filings.  So that's -- to the extent of my knowledge, they are taking that amount and that's the amount they are doing the adjustment when the invoice comes in.

So on our monthly filings, when we file monthly, we don't use actual data; we use wholesale data and we work back to what we estimate to be RPP until we can true-up, and they are taking that amount.

MS. SABHARWAL:  But when you have an invoice and there is an amount under charged -- I believe it's 147 or 148, I can't remember which one, so how would you split that between those two in your GL, RPP and non-RPP to allocate the amount?  Is it based on, what --


MS. COWLES:  So we are going -- what we are doing is taking the -- we are splitting it, but we are basing the non-RPP on a number that's coming out of the RPP settlement amount.  But it's not -- is it the first estimate?  It's the second estimate, so it's not based on the final.

MS. SABHARWAL:  But what about the consumption?  What portion of that cost should go to which account is really what I am trying to get at.

MS. COWLES:  We are taking the RPP consumption and that amount is the amount we are using.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay, thanks. And then does InnPower true-up the estimated GA amounts in RPP/non-RPP volume ratio to actual GA amounts in RPP/non-RPP volume ratio?

MS. COWLES:  No, we don't make further adjustments.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay.  So since the GA analysis shows a significant unexplained difference, is this difference attributable to not settling with the IESO due to not truing-up the GA?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, I believe it's because of the way we are doing the allocation currently.  I just want to point out that your comment previously about the 148 may affect this.   I see the 148 is one of the reconciling balances in here, so we will look at this number again, this 3.8 percent, and make sure that it's -- it may be higher it may be lower as a result of modifying this.

So when we look at the DVA model, we will have to also look at this and ensure that it's consistent.

MS. SABHARWAL:  Okay.  So if it's due to not truing-up and not splitting the cost based on actual consumption, is it still InnPower's position to seek disposition of the commodity accounts before truing-up the GA with the IESO?

MS. COWLES:  If it turns out to be material, like over the 1 percent, we have no issue with waiting and making the correction before filing for the disposition of that, of the GA account.

MS. DUFF:  The one question I had about the 2015 year, is that closed yet, those accounts, the reason you can still make that adjustment of the 148?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, the 2015 is closed.  But that was just -- in the DVA model, that was just an entry into the DVA model.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, thank you.

MS. SABHARWAL:  And that's it for me.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. Murray?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Murray:


MR. MURRAY:  I hope to be very short.  My questions relate to the loss factor that is currently being used in the load forecast.  In particular, there appears to be an inconsistency between the loss factor used and the load requirement and elsewhere in this application.

Perhaps I can start by asking someone to pull up the chapter 2 appendices, appendices 2R, so the chapter 2 appendices.  If I can ask you to just pull the table.  If you can go down a row maybe, a couple rows.

So this is a table of the loss factor that's been calculated, and I was hoping we could start off by agreeing that the loss factor that's being used by InnPower in this application is the 1.0604 at the bottom right-hand corner of the table.

MR. BACON:  That's the one we are looking to.  That's the new loss factor that we are seeking to get approval for, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  Yes.  So if I could then ask you to turn to the load forecast report, which I think we just had up a minute ago.  It's the 27-page document titled revenues, Exhibit 3, and if I can ask you to turn to page 11.  And I am going to be talking a little bit about the table found at table 3.8.

You will see there that the loss factor that's being used in that table is 1.0731, not the 1.06.  Can we agree that the number that should be being used there in terms of the loss factor is 1.06?

MR. BACON:  No.

MR. MURRAY:  No, and why not?

MR. BACON:  This loss factor is the average -- I need to actually pull up the load forecast.  I think it’s a ten-year average, or a seven-year average, where the approved number is a five -- the number we’re looking for approval is based on a five-year average.

When you do the load forecasts, we look at the loss factor over the time period that the historical data is based on.

MR. MURRAY:  But you would agree with me that if the loss factor that was used is 6.04 instead of the 7.3, that the load forecast would be higher, the billed load forecast would be higher in that table.

MR. BACON:  Absolutely, if that's the loss factor that we should be using, it will increase the kilowatt hours, yes.

MR. MURRAY:  And would InnPower be in a position to redo the load forecast based upon a loss factor of 6.04 instead of 7.3, to see what it would mean in terms of how things would shake out?

MR. BACON:  Yes, we would do that, yes we can.

MR. MURRAY:  If you can provide an undertaking.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  That will be undertaking J1.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.9:  TO RECALCULATE THE LOAD FACTOR BASED UPON A LOSS FACTOR OF 6.04


MR. MURRAY:  And those are all my questions.

MR. BACON:  Thank you.

MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And that is it for Staff's questions for panel 1.
Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:  Thank you, Ms. Djurdjevic.  The Panel has a few questions. One question regarding the building; when did the employees move in?  When was the building complete and when did the employees move in?

MR. BROWN:  January 23rd, 2015.

MS. DUFF:  That was the day it was…

MR. BROWN:  That's the day we moved in and opened the -- I think the 23rd was a Friday, or the 26th, and we opened on the Monday.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.  I wanted to explore the series of events regarding the aid, contributions in aid of construction and the correction that was made.  Yes, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  That will be panel 2, I think.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Moving right along, I also have a question about InnServices.  We talked about there is a number of individuals that are dedicated to InnServices that are in around your staff.  Of the 44 employees that you have, how many have hours attributed to InnServices they do billing?  Is that three of your staff, half of your staff?

I am just trying to understand, I guess -- I don't want to use the word burden rate, but the number of people affected.

MS. COWLES:  So the 44 did not include -- there is a financial analyst that all of her time is InnServices and there is an AP clerk that is doing InnServices work.  She helps a bit offset some of InnPower.

We have another two clerks, InnPower employees that would be part of the 44 and also a financial analyst.  They would all do -- the financial analyst does a bit of InnServices, the AR clerk, it's under 15 percent --


MS. DUFF:  Customer service?

MS. COWLES:  Well, they are part of the billing services agreement, so, yeah --


MS. DUFF:  So there is nothing in addition to that.  I am talking about the people that are tracking their hours, and on a --


MS. COWLES:  Well, they track their hours, but it is part of the billing services agreement, so there would be additional people there.

Umm, payroll, we do payroll services, so some payroll staff allocate their time to InnServices.

MS. DUFF:  Any HR-related?

MS. COWLES:  No, HR is done by the town of Innisfil for InnServices.

MS. DUFF:  And coordination for their audit, anything billed for that?  They just pay for it directly?

MS. COWLES:  Yeah, they pay for the audit directly, but our staff do the audit, like, do all the accounting and financial work for the audit.

MS. DUFF:  And how many people would be involved in that?

MS. COWLES:  So that's mainly the financial analyst and the half clerk that are not included in the 44 FTEs.

MS. DUFF:  So is the total about eight of the 44?  Are --


MS. COWLES:  That are affected?

MS. DUFF:  Yeah, that are doing some services for InnService.

MS. COWLES:  Yes, I would say customer service and financials, yes, there would be eight.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Your proposal for this leasing revenue, would that affect InnServices at all, like, this portion of your building, this wing of your building, the first and second floor, does that have anything to do with InnServices and their staff?

MR. MALCOLM:  Nothing to do with InnServices or their staff.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  And a final question, regarding the $2, the $2.33, the billing rate, I understand in the technical conference you said that currently you do not have an agreement, the agreement that you had regarding those fees, that that's expired between InnServices and InnPower; is that correct?

MR. BROWN:  That's correct, but the new agreement -- that's correct.  The new agreement has just been signed.  A new five-year agreement has just been signed.

MS. DUFF:  Effective when?

MR. BROWN:  It would be back-dated to August 1st of 2017.  So it just expired August 1st, 2017.

MS. DUFF:  The previous five-year agreement expired August 1st, so this --


MR. BROWN:  2017.

MS. DUFF:  -- new agreement will then take on from that point on?

MR. BROWN:  That's correct, and it was changed to InnServices because it was with the town of Innisfil before, but it was transferred to the town of Innisfil at the time InnServices was created.

MS. DUFF:  And who negotiated that contract and those rates?  Who was involved?  I remember reading that it was under negotiation.  Who was involved in that negotiation process?

MR. MALCOLM:  So the VP of customer service at InnPower, the CFO of InnPower, the accounting manager of InnPower, the interim CFO of InnServices, and the president and CEO of InnServices.

MS. DUFF:  So to the extent you are talking about some of your executive people being involved in InnServices there, they weren't included in that eight that you talked about previous.  I mean...

MR. MALCOLM:  For InnServices, the interim CFO for InnServices was included in that negotiations.

MS. DUFF:  So the VP of -- just take, for example, the VP of customer service for InnPower was involved in that.

MR. MALCOLM:  Yes, yes.

MS. DUFF:  Was that you, Mr. -- I mean...

MR. MALCOLM:  It's Mr. Brown.

MS. DUFF:  Brown.  And so do you allocate your salary to InnServices for work that you do as an executive?

MR. BROWN:  I did not for that agreement.  I would if it was water, wastewater billing, but I did not for that agreement.

MS. DUFF:  Are any of the other members of the panel
-- have you done work for InnServices in the last year that you do not bill for?

MS. COWLES:  Not that I do not bill for, but as the accounting manager last year I did work for InnServices, but all my time was billed, and the accounting manager that worked on this would have billed his time to InnServices.

MS. DUFF:  But you personally in your new job as an interim CFO, do you bill anything and...

MS. COWLES:  I am not working for -- we have an interim CFO that is the CFO at the town of Innisfil, and he is the one that does the work.  I don't do that any longer.

MS. DUFF:  So you don't touch anything.

MS. COWLES:  No, my accounting manager handles the accounting side and the staff reporting to him for InnServices.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Pinke?

MS. PINKE:  I don't charge any time at all to InnServices.  I don't provide any services for them.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.

All right, those are my questions.  Any redirect, Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  No, Madam Chair.

MS. DUFF:  Just looking at -- oh, sorry, please, Ms. Anderson.

MS. ANDERSON:  There was something that Ms. Cowles said much earlier that just got me thinking about something, and I hadn't thought about it before.

You mentioned a roving energy manager, and am I correct that that is with CHEK?

MS. COWLES:  Yes, that's with the CHEK Group.

MS. ANDERSON:  So what it got me thinking about was I guess the question is conservation programs, CDM, of course, is a non-utility, I guess a non-regulated function.  Are any of the tables, any of your numbers, anything, has CDM amounts been excluded?  For instance, I notice that Ms. Pinke is both regulatory and conservation, so is some of her time allocated to the CDM programs, and is that all backed out of the numbers that we see?

MS. PINKE:  Okay, any CDM staff that we have has not been included in the tables and stuff, and that's part of the correction with the FTEs.  There was two CDM people there.  That's now been corrected to zero, which we will elaborate on.

With respect to my salary in the past, no, it was not charged to conservation, but we have made a commitment on a go-forward basis that 20 percent of my salary will be charged to CDM under the PAB.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you very much.  That was a long day.

I am looking at the schedule here, and it is now 4:15.  These two gentlemen have been sitting here patiently.  Is there an opportunity to perhaps proceed with the examination-in-chief today?

MR. VELLONE:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  In that case, why don't we take a ten-minute break, allow this panel to step down.  And looking at the schedule for tomorrow, I wonder if it's possible -- there was only -- on Wednesday it was supposed to end at 1:20, and the only cross-examination that was to follow that was that of Board Staff.

Was there any -- and that was going to follow on the Thursday.  Is there any reason why Board Staff couldn't go in the afternoon of Wednesday?  Do they have any conflict with attending that meeting, or just from the party's perspective?  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I wouldn't object to that, but I can tell you that my 120 minutes on that schedule is probably not more than 90 and maybe less than that, so there is every potential that we could finish by 2:00, especially if we skip lunch.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, good.  Well, I think the first message is I don't think we are going to be sitting on Thursday, at least for cross-examination, and we will proceed on that basis, so why don't we take the break with the Panel's thanks.  Thank you very much, I appreciate it.  And we will take a break, and if you can call up your next panel we will start with -- yes, ten minutes.  That would be fine, 4:30.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 4:16 p.m.

--- On resuming at 4:26 p.m.

MS. DUFF:  Please be seated.  Mr. Vellone, I see you have panel number 2 up on the stand.

MR. VELLONE:  We do, Madam Chair.  Three of the witnesses are continuing on from panel 1, so we are going to limit our introduction to the two new witnesses and make sure they get affirmed.

Could the two new witness just state and spell your name for the benefit of the record?

MR. DAVISON:  Michael Davison, M-i-c-h-a-e-l D-a-v-i-s-o-n.  That's Michael Davison.

MR. THOMPSON:  Daryn Thompson, D-a-r-y-n T-h-o-m-p-s-o-n.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, would you like to administer the oath?
INNPOWER CORPORATION - PANEL 2

Walter Malcolm,
Jennifer Cowles,
Brenda Pinke; Previously Affirmed

Michael Davison,
Daryl Thompson; Affirmed
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Davison, could you briefly introduce yourself to the panel?

MR. DAVISON:  My name is Michael Davison, and I am the new engineering manager at InnPower.  I have been there since March of 2017.  I am here today because I am filling in for my supervisor, who is on personal leave right now.

Although I joined the organization only in March of 2017, I am fully aware and understanding of the DSP, and have familiarized myself with this process that has led to the proposed capital plan.  I am prepared to answer any questions in all aspects of the distribution system plan and the IR process.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson?

MR. THOMPSON:  I am Daryn Thompson; I am vice president of utility consulting at METSCO Energy Solutions. I drafted the distribution system condition assessment and the station asset condition assessment, which are attached as appendix E and F to the distribution system plan.

I was consulted on the REG connectivity plan and finally, I assisted in the drafting of the DSP.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Mr. Davison, was the application, including all interrogatory responses filed by you -- or prepared by you, or under your supervision?

MR. DAVISON:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you adopt it as your own in this proceeding?

MR. DAVISON:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Are there any corrections you would like the make to the evidence at this time?

MR. DAVISON:  Yes.  We would like to address the connection numbers in undertaking JT1.2 on page 10.  There is a chart corresponding to note 4, which --


MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, that's JT1.5.

MR. DAVISON:  Sorry about that, 1.5.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, can I just interrupt while we have a little pause here?

I understand that our friend from METSCO is not being led as an expert witness and I would like to clarify on the record.  We have had this discussion, I think, before and I want to make sure the record is clear that he is being led as a fact witness, not as an expert witness.

MR. VELLONE:  That is correct.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Thank you for that clarification.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Davison, continue.

MR. DAVISON:  Okay, thank you.  In this undertaking JT1.5, note 4, this lists the subdivisions that have been energized as of August 2017.  Not all the subdivisions that were to have been energized have in fact been energized.  Conversely, the Friday Harbour subdivision has already been energized.  Transfer prices for subdivisions already energized as of August this year are not 10.25 million as stated in JT1.5, but 9.73 million.  And the net capital is not 2.1 million, but 1.96 million.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  The witnesses can take questions on that if people have them.  Mr. Davison has a brief opening statement.

MR. DAVISON:  Thank you.  I would like to begin by offering a few remarks regarding growth in our service areas.  There has been an increase in new home purchases in the area, and a higher than anticipated energization of both new subdivisions and additions to existing subdivisions.

The large Friday Harbour development project has seen aggressive sales and therefore, faster development.  The warmer weather trend combined with the possibility of a mild winter means we can anticipate a steady pace with the energization of new subdivisions.

Note 4 in undertaking JT1.5 demonstrates the extent of this growth. For the new developments, we had originally budgeted a transfer price of around $640,000, with a contribution from developers of roughly $510,000, which would result in a net investment from ratepayers of about $130,000.

However, our actuals up until August 2017 show a total transfer price of approximately $10 million, with a contribution from developers of $8 million, resulting in nearly 2 million net capital increase to ratepayers. This represents over 2,000 approved lots are ready to become service connected customers at any moment.  The increased activity with the new developments will lead to InnPower crews being occupied more often than expected as they inspect, connect and energize the infrastructure and occasionally repair assets still under warranty, which is likely to increase InnPower's use of contract line staff.  Additional engineering resources will be required along with system planning efforts to keep track of all the load increases, which may involve the use of contract or consulting engineering staff.

This 2000 newly approved lots that are ready to be become service connected customers at any moment would result in a 12 percent increase in our amount of customers growth.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Davison.  The witnesses are now available for cross-examination.
Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:  Given the hour, I wasn't about to start any cross-examination.  However, I did ask my one question to the previous panel, so perhaps I could ask this panel regarding the contribution, the changes in the contributions in aid of construction.  So I will ask my question.

There were updates to the evidence regarding the contributions that would be required from developers. Perhaps you could explain to me, when you realized there was an error and a correction that needed to be made, and when the communication has been back to the developers telling them of this additional amount to be collected.

MR. THOMPSON:  So there's a two-part question.  The first part is that in preparations for the technical conference, it became obvious that a number of the projects listed under the system service component were actually system access projects and were going to attract capital contributions.

The developers are being advised of this as part of their subdivision agreements and the list of projects that we listed, the $10 million worth of projects, those are all the ones with the signed agreements.  So those developers have been informed through their agreement process.

MS. DUFF:  And is it infrastructure, that upstream infrastructure that you have now considered as part of the -- that would require contribution in aid of construction?

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it's line rebuilds on mayor roads leading to the subdivisions, so it's bringing the supply to the subdivisions.

MS. DUFF:  In doing those calculations and redoing them, has there been any audit of your numbers that you have rerun?  I mean, I assume the Board has a policy regarding the calculations of contributions in aid of construction.  Is your evidence that you have met the OEB's policies or guidelines in those calculations?  It's a code.

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, they have, all those calculations are calculated with the model.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, thank you very much.

MR. VELLONE:  That's a good time to break?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, okay, thank you.  I also wanted the examination-in-chief, just in case there was any new information, I thought it would be timely in advance of tomorrow.

Board member Mr. Janigan said perhaps the parties could confer about argument dates, a potential written argument-in-chief, and availability to file that and advise the Panel if there is some ideas.

Yes, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The Board Panel is happy to have everything in writing rather than oral argument?

MS. DUFF:  Yes.  I think given the numbers in this case, you know, it would lend itself to written would be better.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can we do at least 1588 and 1589 in oral?

(Laughter)

MS. DUFF:  Oh, dear to my heart.

MR. VELLONE:  We will confer amongst the parties.  Would the Panel's expectation be to deal with argument for all issues except that pole attachment and microFIT, separate?

MS. DUFF:  Yes, yes that is our expectation.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  So we will recess until tomorrow at 9:30.  Thank you very much.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:38 p.m.
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